Western University Scholarship@Western

Digitized Theses

Digitized Special Collections

2006

MODULATION OF REGULATOR OF G PROTEIN SIGNALLING (RGS) FUNCTION BY 14-3-3 PROTEINS

Maria Abramow-Newerly Western University

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

Recommended Citation

Abramow-Newerly, Maria, "MODULATION OF REGULATOR OF G PROTEIN SIGNALLING (RGS) FUNCTION BY 14-3-3 PROTEINS" (2006). *Digitized Theses*. 4983. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/4983

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

MODULATION OF REGULATOR OF G PROTEIN SIGNALLING (RGS) FUNCTION BY 14-3-3 PROTEINS

(Spine Title: Modulation of RGS by 14-3-3 Proteins)

(Thesis Format: Integrated-Article)

by

Maria Abramow-Newerly

Graduate Program in Pharmacology and Toxicology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Faculty of Graduate Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Maria Abramow-Newerly 2006

ABSTRACT

Regulator of G protein signalling (RGS) proteins are primarily known to attenuate G protein function within G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) signalling pathways, however they can interact with additional proteins. We identified an interaction between RGS proteins (RGS4, RGS5, RGS16) and the multifunctional protein 14-3-3. Two isoforms, 14-3-3 β and 14-3-3 ϵ , interact with all three purified RGS proteins. Data from *in vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assays show that 14-3-3 inhibits the GTPase activity of RGS4 and RGS16, but has no appreciable effect on RGS5. Furthermore in a competitive pull-down experiment, 14-3-3 ϵ competes with Gao for RGS4 but not for RGS5. Thus 14-3-3 proteins may prevent RGS from interacting with Ga and ultimately prolong signalling. Tyrosine 167 within the conserved 14-3-3 binding motif does not play a significant role in RGS inhibition by 14-3-3. In conclusion, 14-3-3 proteins appear to indirectly promote GPCR signalling via their inhibitory effects on RGS function.

KEYWORDS: G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) signalling pathway, Regulator of G protein signalling protein (RGS protein), GTPase activating protein (GAP), 14-3-3 proteins, scaffolding protein, signalling complex.

CO-AUTHORSHIP

Parts of Chapter 1 (sections 1.3., 1.4., and 1.5.) were adapted from the following review: Abramow-Newerly, M, Roy, AA, Nunn, C, and Chidiac, P (2005). RGS proteins have a signalling complex: Interactions between RGS proteins and GPCRs, effectors and auxiliary proteins. *Cell. Signal.* DOI:10.1016/j.cellsig.2005.08.010. In Press.

All experiments described in Chapter 2 were carried out in the laboratory of Dr. Peter Chidiac in the Department of Physiology and Pharmacology at the University of Western Ontario. I performed all the experiments described, except for the yeast 2-hybrid screen that was carried out by a former member of the laboratory, Hong Ming.

DEDICATION

THIS THESIS IS DEDICATED TO MEMBERS OF MY FAMILY, WANDA, JAROSLAW, HELENA AND FRANKY, FOR THEIR UNCONDITIONAL LOVE AND CONSTANT SUPPORT

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Throughout my Master's thesis, I have been driven and supported by all the people who placed their confidence in me. I would like to begin to thank my supervisor, Dr. P. Chidiac who has become over the past two years a mentor and a friend. I will always be grateful for all your advice, guidance, and patience. Also, I would like to acknowledge a former member in our laboratory, Hong Ming who showed me the essence of molecular biology and taught me many laboratory techniques. I am very thankful to my advisory committee, Dr. D. Bai and Dr. S. Sims, for their continuous support and good advice. I give deep thanks to all the members in Dr. Chidiac's laboratory, Dr. Caroline Nunn, Dr. Anju Roy and Wendy Cladman, as well as to all the students on the fifth floor, for their enjoyable company and their great sense of humour.

Living in London has truly been an enjoyable experience and for that, I am obliged to my close friends for all their thoughtfulness and awesome memories. I am truly indebted to my family who has always been extremely supportive and understanding. Thank you for teaching me how to live life with a smile. Finally, I am grateful for having such a wonderful best friend and life companion, Chad who always has the ability to make me laugh.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Certificate of Examination	ii
Abstract and Keywords	iii
Co-Authorship	iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	xi
List of Data Tables	xiii
List of Abbreviations	xiv

CHAPTER 1

Literature Review	1
1.1. GPCR Signal Transduction Pathway	2
1.2. RGS Proteins	
1.3. RGS Protein in Signalling Complexes	
1.3.1. RGS interactions with auxiliary proteins	13
1.3.2. GGL and DEP domains	13
1.3.3. GIPC	15
1.3.4. GIPC and RGS proteins	16
1.3.5. Spinophilin	18
1.3.6. Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin	19
.4. 14-3-3 Proteins	

1.4.1. 14-3-3 structure	23
1.4.2. 14-3-3 localization	25
1.4.3. Phosphorylation	26
1.4.4. 14-3-3 mechanism of action	27
1.5.14-3-3 and RGS Proteins	28
1.6. Rationale for the Present Studies	33
1.7. References	36

CHAPTER 2

Modulation of RGS Function by 14-3-3 Proteins	48
2.1. Introduction	49
2.2. Materials and Methods	
2.2.1. Constructs	52
2.2.2. Protein Purification	54
2.2.3. Mammalian Cell Transfection	56
2.2.4. Cell Lysate Pull-Down Experiments	57
2.2.5. Pull-Down Experiments with Purified Proteins	58
2.2.6. Immunoblot Analysis	59
2.2.7. Densitometry	60
2.2.8. Receptor and G Protein Expression in Sf9 Cells	
and Membrane Purification	60
2.2.9. Steady State GTP Hydrolysis Assay	61

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Purified RGS proteins bind to 14-3-3 proteins	
expressed in HEK293 cells	62
2.3.2. Purified 14-3-3 proteins bind to RGS proteins	
expressed in HEK293 cells	62
2.3.3. Purified RGS proteins bind to purified 14-3-3 proteins	63
2.3.4. 14-3-3 proteins inhibit the GAP activity of RGS4	
and RGS16, but not RGS5	73
2.3.5. 14-3-3 and G proteins compete for RGS proteins	77
2.3.6. 14-3-3 proteins do not distinguish between leucine and	
tyrosine residues within the SxP motif of the RGS domain	82
2.4. Discussion	86
2.5. References	95
CHAPTER 3	100
3.1. Final Conclusions and Future Perspectives	101
3.2. References	109
APPENDIX A	
Additional Data	112
A. Introduction	113
B. Methods	114
C. Results and Discussion	114
D. References	118

ix

APPENDIX B	119
Certificate of Radiation Safety Training	120
Permission to reprint Figure 1.4.	121
Permission to reprint Figure 1.5.	122
Permission to reprint Figure 1.7.	123

CURRICULUM VITAE

124

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1:

1.1.	RGS proteins and an example of Gai/o cellular targets	4
1.2.	RGS proteins, negative regulators of GPCR-mediated	
	signal transduction pathway	5
1.3.	Summary of RGS structure	7
1.4.	Conserved regions in the RGS family mapped onto	
	the structure of the RGS domain of RGS4	8
1.5.	Crystal structure of RGS4 in complex with Gai1 protein	9
1.6.	Functions of 14-3-3 Proteins	22
1.7.	14-3-3 protein structure	24
1.8.	14-3-3 and RGS proteins	29
1.9.	SYP motif within RGS proteins	31
1.10.	Model mechanism for the role of 14-3-3 on RGS function	35
CHAF	PTER 2:	
2.1.	14-3-3e in cytosolic extracts interacts with purified	
	RGS4, RG5 and RGS16	64
2.2.	14-3-3 β in cytosolic extracts interacts with purified	
	RGS4, RG5 and RGS16	65
2.3.	RGS5 in cytosolic extracts binds to purified 14-3-3 proteins	67

2.4. Direct interaction between RGS proteins and 14-3-3ε 68

2.5.	Direct interaction between RGS proteins and 14-3-3 β	69
2.6.	RGS proteins bind to $14-3-3\varepsilon$ in a concentration-dependent manner	71
2.7.	RGS proteins bind to 14-3-3 β in a concentration-dependent manner	72
2.8.	14-3-3 has no effect on Gao protein-coupled M_2 cholinergic	
	receptor signalling pathway in the absence of RGS proteins	74
2.9.	14-3-3 inhibits the GAP activity of RGS proteins	76
2.10.	RGS5, but not 14-3-3, binds to activated Gao and Gail proteins	79
2.11.	14-3-3 competes with activated Gao for RGS4, but not RGS5	81
2.12.	RGS5 L167Y and RGS16 Y167L mutants have similar	
	GAP activity as wild-type RGS proteins	83
2.13.	Leucine and tyrosine residues within the SxP motif	
	do not dictate 14-3-3ɛ inhibition on RGS GAP activity	84
2.14.	Leucine and tyrosine residues within the SxP motif	
	do not dictate 14-3-3 β inhibition on RGS GAP activity	85

CHAPTER 3:

3.1.	Other Putative RGS-14-3-3 Binding Sites	106

APPENDIX A:

A.1.	14-3-3ɛ in cytosolic fractions interacts with both purified	
	RGS16 and RGS16 S174P proteins	116

A.2.	Direct interaction between purified RGS16 S174P	
	and purified 14-3-3e proteins	117

LIST OF DATA TABLES

Table 2.1: 14-3-3 in cytosolic extracts interacts with purified		
RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16	66	
Table 2.2: Direct interaction between RGS proteins and 14-3-3	70	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AMF $\underline{A}lCl_3, \underline{M}gCl_2, \underline{N}aF$
- 14-3-3ε 14-3-3 epsilon
- 14-3-3β 14-3-3 beta
- DEP Disheveled/EGL-10/Plextrin homology domain
- DMAP1 DNA methyltransferase-associated protein 1
- G proteins Heterotrimeric guanine-nucleotide binding proteins
- Gβ5 Subtype 5 of the heterotrimeric G protein beta subunit
- GAIP G alpha interacting protein
- GAP GTPase activating protein
- GDP Guanosine-5'-diphosphate
- GEF Guanine nucleotide exchange factor
- GFP Green fluorescent protein
- GGL G gamma-like domain
- GIPC RGS-GAIP interacting protein C terminus
- GoLoco G-protein regulatory (GPR) motif that acts as a guanine dissociation inhibitor (GDI) on G alpha
- GPCR G protein-coupled receptor
- GST Glutathione-S-transferase
- GTP Guanosine-5'-triphosphate
- HA Hemagglutinin epitope of the human influenza virus
- HEK293 Human embryonic kidney cell line
- HIS Hexa-histidine

IB	Immunoblot
NES	Nuclear export sequence
PDZ	PSD95/DLG/ZO-1 domain
PTB	Phosphotyrosine-binding domain
RID	Rap interaction domain
RGS	Regulators of G protein signalling
SCG10	A neuronal growth-associated protein
SNARE	Soluble N-ethyl maleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein
WT	Wild-type

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. GPCR Signal Transduction Pathway

The superfamily of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) represents the largest class and the most diverse type of cell surface receptors existing in mammalian genomes (Schioth and Fredriksson, 2005). These receptors are also known as 7 transmembrane-spanning proteins based on their common membrane topology that consists of an amino-terminal extracellular domain, a seven hydrophobic transmembrane domain, and a carboxyl-terminal intracellular domain (Kristiansen, 2004; Schioth and Fredriksson, 2005). GPCRs participate in a diversity of important physiological functions and use distinct domains to bind to a wide range of ligands (eg. ions, organic odorants, amines, peptides, proteins, lipids, nucleotides, and photons) (Bockaert *et al.*, 2003). This type of receptor has been found to be an important drug target for the treatment of a number of diseases including cardiovascular, neurological, digestive, skeletal and respiratory disorders. In fact, GPCRs are targets for approximately 60% of currently available therapeutics (Leurs *et al.*, 1998).

Based on physiological and structural features, GPCRs can be classified into at least six families (A–F groups) that show little inter-family sequence similarity (Kolakowski, Jr., 1994). The primary role of GPCRs is to bind to specific ligands found outside the cell and to convert an extracellular signal into an intracellular response via heterotrimeric guanine-nucleotide binding proteins (G proteins), consisting of G α , G β , and G γ subunits (Neer, 1995). G proteins are segregated into four families based on sequence homology of the G α subunit and on their effector interaction: (1) Gs (stimulates adenylyl cyclase); (2) Gi (inhibits adenylyl cyclase); (3) Gq (stimulates phospholipase C β); (4) G12 (activates Rho) (Downes and Gautam, 1999). The signal transduction pathway is initiated by the

binding of a ligand to the receptor, followed by a conformational change of the receptor that enables it to act as a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF), thereby promoting the exchange of GDP for GTP on the Ga subunit of the heterotrimeric G protein. This leads to the activation of the $G\alpha$ subunit, and a conformational change within (and possible dissociation of) the heterotrimeric G protein (Kjeldgaard et al., 1996; Chidiac, 1998). Both GTP-bound G α and the G $\beta\gamma$ subunits promote downstream signalling by activating a number of effectors and second messengers. The diversity within the heterotrimeric G protein subunits and the subtle variations in expression between tissues may be important in partly determining GPCR signal specificity (Downes and Gautam, 1999). The amplitude and duration of the receptor-mediated signal is highly dependent on the length of time Ga remains in the active GTP-bound state. The rate of its selfinactivation in vitro is often slow compared to the fast physiological responses seen in vivo. This apparent discrepancy in many cases can be accounted for by the intracellular regulators of G protein signalling (RGS) proteins (Chasse and Dohlman, 2003) (Figure 1.1).

1.2. RGS Proteins

RGS proteins play a key role in the desensitization of GPCR-mediated signals and are primarily known as negative regulators of G protein-mediated signalling pathways (Wilkie and Ross, 2000) (Figure 1.2). In mammals, twenty distinct genes for RGS proteins have been identified (numbered RGS1-21, omitting 15), some of which have splice variants, as well as there are a similar number of structurally divergent "RGS-like"



Figure 1.1. *RGS proteins and an example of Gi/o cellular targets.* Once the GPCR has been activated, the GTP-Gai/o subunit can function as an inhibitor of the effector adenylyl cyclase, while the G $\beta\gamma$ subunit can elicit the protein-gated inwardly rectifying potassium channels (GIRK), both significantly redirecting cellular responses. RGS proteins are known to interact with both subunits of the heterotrimeric G protein, as well as GPCRs and effectors to negatively modulate their activities (Sadja *et al.*, 2003; Abramow-Newerly *et al.*, 2005). C1 and C2 = cytosolic domains of adenylyl cyclase; cAMP = cyclic AMP; PKA = Protein kinase A.



Figure 1.2. *RGS proteins, negative regulators of GPCR-mediated signal transduction pathways.* The diagram illustrates the cycle of activation and inactivation of the G α subunit of the heterotrimeric G protein. The binding of agonist activates the GPCR which acts as a GEF, catalyzing the exchange of GDP for GTP. RGS proteins function as GAPs that increase the rate of hydrolysis of GTP to GDP, resulting in the inactivation of G α and the reformation of the inactive heterotrimeric G protein.

proteins, a few of which have GAP activity (Hollinger and Hepler, 2002; Riddle et al., 2005). Based on sequence similarities, RGS proteins can be classified into four subfamilies (B/R4, A/RZ, C/R7, and D/R12), in which all family members possess a ~120-amino acid (15kDa) core region, known as the RGS domain (or RGS box). Some RGS proteins consist primarily of an RGS domain (i.e. B/R4, A/RZ subfamilies), while others contain additional domains (i.e. C/R7, D/R12 subfamilies) (Figures 1.3 and 1.4). The RGS domain binds to the $G\alpha$ subunit of the heterotrimeric G protein and is necessary and sufficient to terminate G protein function by virtue of its ability to act as a GTPase activating protein (GAP). The mechanism by which RGS proteins inactivate G proteins involves the stabilization of the G protein transition state that occurs immediately prior to GTP hydrolysis, and this promotes the acceleration of the rate of GTP hydrolysis on the $G\alpha$ subunit (Hollinger and Hepler, 2002) (Figure 1.2). This postulated mechanism is supported by the crystallization of RGS4 with Gai1-GDP-AlF4⁻ that clearly illustrates a direct interaction between the RGS domain (a four-helix bundle) and the G α subunit at three switch regions (Tesmer et al., 1997) (Figure 1.5). However, the ability of RGS proteins to impede signalling does not seem to exclusively depend on the RGS domain, in fact recent studies have shown that other domains are involved in determining receptor specificity, intracellular localization, and also provide additional functions (Siderovski and Willard, 2005).



Figure 1.3. *Summary of RGS structure.* The schematic illustrates common RGS protein domains classified according to subfamilies (B/R4, C/R7, D/R12, A/RZ). Variance may exist between isoforms or splice variants. Note that not all domains indicated are found in all members within a given subfamily. Adapted from (Riddle *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 1.4. Conserved regions in the RGS family mapped onto the structure of the RGS domain of RGS4. The amino acid sequence of all members of the A/RZ, B/R4, C/R7, and D/R12 subfamilies were aligned and the relative conservation of each residue was mapped onto the structure of RGS4. *Top panel*: the RGS domain with the G α contact surface below. *Bottom panel*: 180° rotation of the top image about the vertical axis. The α -helices are numbered according to (Tesmer *et al.*, 1997). Reprinted, with permission, from the Annual Review of Biochemistry, Volume 69 © 2000 by Annual Reviews, www.annualreviews.org.



Figure 1.5. *Crystal structure of RGS4 in complex with Gai1 protein.* The Gα protein is shown in yellow and the RGS protein in light blue. The evolutionary trace analysis identified a cluster of residues (blue; numbered) that includes the RGS-Gα binding interface. The following work is published in: Sowa ME, He W, Wensel TG, Lichtarge O. A regulator of G protein signaling interaction surface linked to effector specificity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A. 2000 Feb 15; 97(4):1483-8. Copyright (2000) National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A.

As they are potent regulators of GPCR-mediated signalling pathways, RGS protein levels and activities are highly controlled within the cell via various mechanisms including regulation of subcellular localization, post-translational modifications and their association with protein binding partners (Song *et al.*, 1999; Kim *et al.*, 1999; Schiff *et al.*, 2000; Ishii and Kurachi, 2004). For example, the subcellular localization of several RGS proteins including RGS2, RGS3, RGS4 and RGS10 has been shown to be modulated by the presence of specific G proteins and GPCRs, by G protein activation and by phosphorylation (Dulin *et al.*, 1999; Burgon *et al.*, 2001; Roy *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation and/or palmitoylation are reported for most RGS proteins and appear to affect protein stability, localization and GAP activity; however additional studies are necessary to determine the physiological significance of these alterations (Riddle *et al.*, 2005).

In many cases, GPCRs are unsuitable drug targets because they are expressed in many tissues, and treatment of one disease can lead to unwanted side effects in other organs. Thus, RGS proteins have the potential of becoming distinct drug targets partly due to the fact that some of them have unique tissue and organ distribution (i.e. RGS9), and transcriptional modulation profiles (De Vries and Gist-Farquhar M., 1999; Larminie *et al.*, 2004). RGS protein functions may differ according to tissue type, signalling mechanism, and (patho)-physiological state (Neubig and Siderovski, 2002; Chasse and Dohlman, 2003; Ghavami *et al.*, 2004). The role of several RGS proteins *in vivo* has been studied using RGS-deficient mouse models. For instance, RGS2 knock-out mice possess an increased blood pressure (Gross *et al.*, 2005), RGS9-2 knock-out mice demonstrate abnormal involuntary movements that resemble drug-induced dyskinesia (Kovoor *et al.*, *a.*, *a.*,

2005), and the loss of RGS14 expression in the mouse embryonic genome leads to developmental arrest (Martin-McCaffrey *et al.*, 2004). On the other hand, RGS4 null mice appear to be viable, fertile and fail to display any significant developmental and behavioral anomalies (Grillet *et al.*, 2005). Thus, understanding the mechanism(s) by which RGS proteins alter signalling and/or are themselves modulated is challenging, albeit necessary in predicting potential RGS-drug interactions.

1.3. RGS Proteins in Signalling Complexes

Initial studies on RGS function postulated that these proteins catalytically turned off activated, free G α subunits *in vivo*, under the assumption that G α upon GTP binding would dissociate from both the G $\beta\gamma$ dimer and the activated GPCR (Wilkie and Ross, 2000; Hollinger and Hepler, 2002; Chidiac and Roy, 2003). In this context, RGS proteins would "intercept" G α -GTP and shuttle between GPCRs and effector proteins (Chidiac, 1998). However recently, this shuttling dogma has been questioned (Chidiac, 1998; Levitzki and Klein, 2002), and an alternative interpretation is that signals are transduced via protein complexes that consist of GPCRs, G proteins, effectors, and possibly other proteins (Rodbell, 1980; Chidiac, 1998; Levitzki and Klein, 2002; Rebois and Hebert, 2003). In addition to the latter proteins, signalling complexes can contain a variety of other structural and modulatory protein components and although a lot still remains to be elucidated, there is mounting evidence that RGS proteins may be at least transiently involved in these signalling complexes (Kreienkamp, 2002; Benians *et al.*, 2005). It is now becoming evident that RGS proteins are targeted to more than just G proteins. Data suggest that members of all four RGS protein subfamilies are able to interact with GPCRs. Several mammalian GPCRs have been identified as real or putative RGS protein targets and these include the M₁ (Bernstein *et al.*, 2004) and M₂ muscarinic (Ingi *et al.*, 1998; Roy *et al.*, 2003), D₂ (Cabrera-Vera *et al.*, 2004; Jeanneteau *et al.*, 2004b; Kovoor *et al.*, 2005) and D₃ dopaminergic (Jeanneteau *et al.*, 2004a), α_{1A} - (Hague *et al.*, 2005), β_1 - (Hu *et al.*, 2003) and β_2 -adrenergic (Roy *et al.*, 2003), angiotensin AT₁ (Roy *et al.*, 2003) interleukin-8 B (CXCR2) (Snow *et al.*, 1998) and μ opioid receptors (Garzon *et al.*, 2004). Often, the GPCR-RGS protein interaction involves regions outside the conserved RGS domain and in some cases requires auxiliary proteins. Overall these data suggest that RGS protein targeting to G proteins can be regulated by GPCRs.

RGS proteins have also been observed to bind to a variety of effector proteins including adenylyl cyclase, GIRK channels, cGMP phospho-diesterase (PDE γ), phospholipase C- β (PLC- β) and Ca²⁺ channels (Wilkie and Ross, 2000; Chidiac and Roy, 2003). In some cases, the RGS-effector protein interaction can have a negative effect whereby RGS proteins act as effector antagonists and bind to either the effector protein or the G α subunit to prevent the physical interaction between the two. In other cases, it can have a positive effect on GPCR signalling, whereby it creates a complex between the effector and the activated G protein resulting in the fast transduction of the activated G α signal (Wilkie and Ross, 2000).

In addition to the primary participants in G protein-mediated signal transduction (i.e., receptors, G proteins and effectors), RGS proteins have been found to interact with a wide variety of other proteins (De Vries et al., 2000) and these associations can influence their subcellular localization, function and stability. Novel binding interactions via both non-RGS and RGS domains have introduced more complexity to our understanding of the potential role of RGS proteins in vivo. For example, it has been observed that the RGS domain, primarily known for its binding to Ga proteins, also interacts with small GTPases, protein kinase A, and components of the Wnt signalling pathway (De Vries et al., 2000). In fact, the GAP effects of RGS proteins are sensitive to a wide variety of factors, including cations [i.e. sodium, potassium and magnesium (Wang et al., 1997; Cladman and Chidiac, 2002)], and phospholipids [i.e. phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5trisphosphate (PIP₃) (Ishii et al., 2002) and phosphatidylserine (Tu et al., 2001)]. These interactions have functional implications, for instance: the RGS-box GAP activity has been shown to be modulated by other molecules which can act either as potentiators of RGS GAP activity (eg. calmodulin) or allosteric inhibitors which reduce RGS GAP activity (eg. phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate) (Neubig and Siderovski, 2002).

1.3.2. GGL and DEP domains

A number of RGS proteins have been found to interact with intracellular proteins to create scaffolding complexes. Notably, the C/R7 RGS family (RGS6, RGS7, RGS9 and RGS11) contains two additional functional regions, the Gγ-like (GGL) and the Disheveled/EGL-10/Plextrin homology (DEP) domains, and these serve as binding

interfaces for other signalling proteins (Druey, 2001; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2003; Civera *et al.*, 2005). The function of C/R7 RGS proteins may be dependent upon the SNARE-like proteins R9AP and R7BP, which bind to the DEP domain. R9AP serves a scaffolding function and is required for the stability, localization and function of RGS9-1 in the retina (Martemyanov *et al.*, 2003). Likewise, R7BP may play a similar role in the nervous system by forming part of a regulatory complex with C/R7 RGS proteins themselves (Keresztes *et al.*, 2004; Martemyanov *et al.*, 2005).

The GGL domains of C/R7 RGS proteins may bind to GPCRs, and are known to interact with other proteins to produce effects distinct from those that they have on G proteinmediated signalling. For instance, a G β 5-independent function of the GGL domain in RGS localization has been described recently, wherein both the long N-terminus and the GGL domain sequence prevented nuclear/nucleolar accumulation of several distinct transcripts of human RGS6 (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, RGS6, through a motif in the GGL domain that is distinct from the binding site of G β 5, is able to bind to the transcriptional repressor protein DNA methyltransferase-associated protein 1 (DMAP1) and thus become part of a complex with DNA methyltransferase 1 (Liu and Fisher, 2004). In this context, RGS6 seems to decrease DNA methylation through the inhibition of the transcriptional repressor activity of DMAP1. These data suggest that RGS proteins can be involved in transcriptional regulation and have a G protein-independent function in the nucleus.

Finally, it was observed that the GGL domain of RGS6 can also interact with SCG10, a neuronal growth-associated protein. Co-expression of these proteins results in their co-

localization and a synergistic enhancement of PC12 cell differentiation induced by NGF (Liu *et al.*, 2002). Thus, this example emphasizes a role for RGS6 in neuronal differentiation via a G protein-independent mechanism. To complicate matters further, SCG10 also appears to bind to RGS20 (RGSZ1) which has no GGL domain, and this interaction has the opposite effect, resulting in the blockage of microtubule disassembly (Nixon *et al.*, 2002).

1.3.3. GIPC

GIPC belongs to a central PDZ (PSD95/DLG/ZO-1) domain-containing group of proteins (Katoh, 2002; Bockaert *et al.*, 2004). It was first identified by its ability to bind to the C terminus of RGS19/GAIP (hence its name RGS-<u>G</u>AIP interacting protein <u>C</u> terminus) through a PDZ-binding motif (De Vries *et al.*, 1998b; De Vries and Gist-Farquhar M., 1999; Lou *et al.*, 2002). However, since then it has been shown that GIPCbinding partners are not defined by a common, prototypical PDZ-binding motif, but rather GIPC interactions are flexible and for this reason, it is able to associate with a variety of proteins with divergent PDZ-binding motifs (Cai and Reed, 1999; Lou *et al.*, 2001; Hirakawa *et al.*, 2003). Many GIPC binding partners have been identified and these include GPCRs [(D₂ and D₃ dopaminergic and β_1 adrenergic, (Hu *et al.*, 2003; Jeanneteau *et al.*, 2004a; Jeanneteau *et al.*, 2004b)] and tyrosine kinase receptors [(IGF-1 and TGF beta type III, (Blobe *et al.*, 2001; Booth *et al.*, 2002)].

PDZ-containing proteins are known to (1) stabilize large functional complexes; (2) spatially cluster and anchor transmembrane proteins to specific subcellular domains; (3)

act as adaptors/scaffolds; (4) regulate trafficking of cytosolic proteins to and from the plasma membrane and (5) interact with the cytoskeleton (Fanning and Anderson, 1999). Therefore the GPCR-GIPC complex can be viewed as part of a dynamic protein network, necessary for fine-tuning downstream signalling and introducing functional diversity within different cell types, by acting as a bridge between GPCRs and other types of signalling molecules (Bockaert *et al.*, 2004). Evidence for these diverse interactions has been demonstrated by immunoprecipitation, pull-down assays and yeast-two hybrid screens in which GIPC has been found to bind to the cytoplasmic domain of a number of membrane proteins, such as the glucose transporter Glut-1 (Bunn *et al.*, 1999), syndecan-4 (Gao *et al.*, 2000), and the nerve growth factor receptor TrkA (Lou *et al.*, 2001). These findings imply that GIPC has an important function as a scaffolding protein, capable of spatially clustering and assembling receptors and signalling molecules in a particular cellular domain.

1.3.4. GIPC and RGS proteins

It has been well established that GIPC forms a complex with RGS19 (A/RZ family) that is membrane-anchored by its N-terminus and is mostly localized in clathrin-coated vesicles (De Vries *et al.*, 1998a). This localization supports a role for the RGS19-GIPC complex in the regulation of vesicular trafficking and endocytosis (De Vries *et al.*, 1998b; Wylie *et al.*, 1999; De Vries and Gist-Farquhar M., 1999; Fischer *et al.*, 2000; Fischer *et al.*, 2003). It is possible that the function of GIPC in this complex is simply to promote RGS19-mediated Gαi-GTP hydrolysis, ultimately terminating G protein signalling. However, this seems unlikely since overexpression of both RGS19 and Gai3 (the preferred substrate of RGS19) produces inhibition of vesicular trafficking (Hollinger and Hepler, 2002), suggesting that the mechanism is primarily independent of RGS19's GAP activity. Thus, the real significance of the RGS19-GIPC interaction is probably to create a complex which can further associate with other proteins (Druey, 2001; Lou *et al.*, 2001).

The RGS19-GIPC complex may be important in clustering transmembrane receptors with signalling molecules. As mentioned previously, it has been shown for the dopamine D_2 receptor that, once stimulated by dopamine agonists, the signal is fine-tuned by the GIPC-dependent protein complex, consisting of D_2 receptor and RGS19, in which the GIPC-receptor interaction actively recruits and clusters RGS19 to the plasma membrane (Jeanneteau *et al.*, 2004b). As yet, it is unclear whether this complex involves GIPC dimerization and/or other accessory proteins (i.e. G proteins) and/or post-translational modifications (Garzon *et al.*, 2004; Jeanneteau *et al.*, 2004a). However, it has been suggested that GIPC may accomplish this function by forming homo-oligomers which contain multiple PDZ-binding sites through interactions at its N terminus (Gao *et al.*, 2000; Hirakawa *et al.*, 2003; Jeanneteau *et al.*, 2004a).

The interaction between GIPC and RGS19 is also able to promote cross-talk between non-G protein and G protein signalling networks (Cai and Reed, 1999; Wang *et al.*, 1999; Lou *et al.*, 2001; Lou *et al.*, 2002). It has been observed that the RGS19-GIPC complex is likely to associate with the phosphorylated NGF receptor TrkA, where GIPC co-localizes with the receptor in retrograde transport vesicles and inhibits MAP kinase activation by NGF. In this example, GIPC facilitates a link between NGF tyrosine kinase pathways and G proteins (Lou *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, Lou *et al.* (2002) presented evidence that megalin, belonging to the LDL (low-density lipoprotein) receptor family, binds to GIPC in clathrin-coated pits in the renal proximal tubule epithelium. Megalin was shown to be concentrated in endocytic compartments of the proximal tubule along with Gai3, RGS19 and GIPC. Hence, it may be regulated partially by Gai3, RGS19 and GIPC, suggesting a model in which G protein-mediated signalling modulates megalin's endocytic function and/or trafficking.

1.3.5. Spinophilin

Interactions between RGS and scaffolding proteins are not limited to the larger, more complex RGS proteins. A recent report demonstrated that spinophilin, a multi-domain protein is able to interact with RGS1, RGS2, RGS4, RGS16 and RGS19 in pull-down assays (Wang *et al.*, 2005). Spinophilin also binds to the 3rd intracellular loop of a number of GPCRs including α_{1B} -, α_{2A} -, α_{2B} -, and α_{2C} -adrenergic and D₂ dopaminergic receptors (Wang *et al.*, 2005). This suggests a possible scaffolding role, as was demonstrated using Xenopus oocytes, where spinophilin was found to enhance the ability of RGS2 to inhibit Ca²⁺ signalling via the α_{1B} adrenoceptor (Wang *et al.*, 2005). Spinophilin also contains a PDZ domain and interacts with protein phosphatase-1 and the cytoskeletal proteins F-actin (Smith *et al.*, 1999) and doublecortin (Tsukada *et al.*, 2003). Moreover spinophilin binds to the nucleotide exchange factor Tiam-1, where it promotes the activation of p70 S6 kinase by the small GTPase Rac (Buchsbaum *et al.*, 2003), further implying a role for spinophilin as an organizer of signalling complexes.

1.3.6. $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$

The calcium sensor calmodulin undergoes a pronounced conformational change in response to the binding of calcium and regulates multiple signalling proteins (Berridge *et al.*, 2000). $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin directly binds to RGS1, RGS2, RGS4, RGS10, RGS16, and RGS19, in a <math>Ca^{2+}$ -dependent manner (Popov *et al.*, 2000). This binding does not seem to affect the GAP activity of the RGS proteins (Popov *et al.*, 2000), despite the finding that intracellular RGS activity can be increased by binding to $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$. For instance in cardiomyocytes, RGS action on GIRK channels was facilitated via an increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} in a $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin dependent manner (Ishii$ *et al.* $, 2001). Ca^{2+}/calmodulin competes with PIP₃ for binding to RGS4 and this is significant since PIP₃ binding has been shown to inhibit GAP activity in a concentration-dependent manner (Popov$ *et al.*, 2000). Therefore it seems likely that calmodulin positively regulates RGS4 activity in cells not by increasing GAP activity per se, but by preventing the inhibition of GAP activity by PIP₃.

Calmodulin and PIP₃ both bind to the C-terminal portion of helix 4 of the RGS domain of RGS4 (Ishii *et al.*, 2005). This binding site is well conserved in different RGS proteins, suggesting that reciprocal regulation by PIP₃ and Ca²⁺/calmodulin may be important for the physiological control of multiple RGS subtypes. The mutually exclusive binding of Ca²⁺/calmodulin and PIP₃ to RGS proteins implies an elegant mechanism for RGS protein-mediated modification of intracellular Ca²⁺ oscillations *in vivo* (Luo *et al.*, 2001; Hollinger and Hepler, 2002). PIP₃ may initially prevent the RGS protein from inhibiting PLCβ activity, allowing an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ and activation of Ca²⁺/

calmodulin. Ca^{2+} /calmodulin will then compete for the PIP₃ binding site on the RGS protein, thereby promoting the RGS inhibitory effect on PLC β activation. This in turn will decrease intracellular Ca²⁺/calmodulin activation, thereby allowing PIP₃ to rebind to the RGS protein. In this way, the dual regulation of RGS activity can cause Ca²⁺ oscillations (Sierra *et al.*, 2000; Popov *et al.*, 2000).

1.4. 14-3-3 Proteins

The name "14-3-3" has no functional significance and simply represents the elution fraction following DEAE-cellulose chromatography and its observed migration position on starch gel electrophoresis (Yaffe, 2002). 14-3-3 proteins are small (27-32 kDa) proteins which, despite having no detectable catalytic or functional domains (Tzivion et al., 2001), appear to be involved in diverse cellular processes including signal transduction pathways, adhesion, cellular proliferation, survival and apoptosis (van Hemert et al., 2004). 14-3-3 proteins function primarily as chaperones, adaptors and scaffolds (Jones et al., 1995; Ferl et al., 2002; Dougherty and Morrison, 2004; Wilker and Yaffe, 2004). They were initially thought to bind to either of two specific phosphorylated motifs (RSXpSXP and RXY/FXpSSXP) (Muslin et al., 1996; Wilker and Yaffe, 2004), however it is now recognized that 14-3-3 binding sites vary widely among the many (~ 200) binding partners that have been identified, with some interactions occurring in a phosphorylation-independent manner (Aitken et al., 2002; Pozuelo et al., 2004). These binding partners include a number of regulatory proteins and integral components of signal transduction, such as GPCRs (GABA_B, (Couve *et al.*, 2001), α_2 -adrenergic (Prezeau et al., 1999) and parathyroid hormone receptors (Tazawa et al., 2003)) (Figure

1.6), as well as tyrosine kinase receptors (Craparo *et al.*, 1997; Furlanetto *et al.*, 1997; Spence *et al.*, 2003), kinases (Irie *et al.*, 1994; Reuther *et al.*, 1994; Bonnefoy-Berard *et al.*, 1995; Camoni *et al.*, 1998; Light *et al.*, 2002), phosphatases (Conklin *et al.*, 1995), apoptosis-related proteins (Datta *et al.*, 2000; Bae *et al.*, 2003) and protooncogene products (Liu *et al.*, 1996).

The biological importance of 14-3-3 proteins would appear to be reflected in their high degree of sequence conservation, in their ubiquitous expression among eukaryotes and in their remarkable ligand binding flexibility (Aitken *et al.*, 2002). The manner in which 14-3-3 proteins regulate such a large number of substrates is still under investigation, however it has been shown that they are able to assemble oligomeric complexes (Tzivion *et al.*, 2001), act as phosphoprotein adaptors (Yaffe and Cantley, 1999; McGonigle *et al.*, 2001; McGonigle *et al.*, 2002; Ferl *et al.*, 2002), affect intracellular localization (Lopez-Girona *et al.*, 1999; Zhang *et al.*, 1999), and regulate apoptosis (Clark *et al.*, 1998; Datta *et al.*, 2000; Xing *et al.*, 2000; Bialkowska *et al.*, 2003).

The molecular consequences of 14-3-3 binding are diverse, and in most cases, are poorly understood. However, a few functions have been described including inhibition or promotion of protein interactions, alteration of enzymatic activity, sequestration of proteins in the cytoplasm and enhanced post-translational modifications (i.e. phosphorylation). Thus, it has been postulated that disturbances in 14-3-3 binding may be a factor in the occurrence of diseases such as cancer, Miller-Dieker syndrome, Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease (Dougherty and Morrison, 2004; Wilker and Yaffe, 2004; Mhawech, 2005).


Figure 1.6. *Functions of 14-3-3 proteins.* 14-3-3 proteins (1) prevent heterodimerization of receptors and (2) can directly bind to several GPCRs to potentially inhibit signalling by impeding the GPCR – G protein interaction. Moreover, 14-3-3 proteins (3) may shuttle in and out of the nucleus due to their NES signal, and may act as chaperones by affecting the localization and function of some binding target proteins. PTH = Parathyroid hormone.

1.4.1. 14-3-3 structure

In mammals, there are seven 14-3-3 isoforms (β , γ , ζ , σ , ε , η and τ ,), in each of which there is 96-100% identity in the same isoform across different mammalian species (Ferl et al., 2002; Dougherty and Morrison, 2004). 14-3-3 proteins are 'cup-shaped' dimers, in which monomers each containing 9 antiparallel α -helices are able to bind to a single phosphorylated target protein (Rosenquist et al., 2000; Yaffe, 2002). Based on the crystal structure of 14-3-3 ζ , four helices (3,5,7,9) form a negatively charged amphipathic groove and three conserved basic residues (Lys-49, Arg-56, Arg-127) constitute a pocket that may explain the high affinity of 14-3-3 for phosphorylated proteins (Yaffe, 2002) (Figure 1.7). This core region is highly conserved among 14-3-3 subtypes and species, and represents the main functional domain of the protein. Most importantly, it includes the 14-3-3 recognition sequences that bind to phosphoserine/threonine motifs on target proteins (Ferl et al., 2002). Since the majority of the conserved residues are located inside the alphahelices facing the interior of the protein, it is believed that one function of these residues is to stabilize the monomer and prevent degradation (Rosenquist et al., 2000). Under physiological conditions, 14-3-3 proteins primarily exist as homo- and heterodimers that are very stable and do not exchange monomers readily (Chaudhri et al., 2003). Its dimerization is the result of an interaction between the N-terminus of two monomers, forming a conserved dimer interface. In most cases, 14-3-3 dimerization is required for its function (Tzivion et al., 2001) and despite the fact that the mechanism underlying the modulation of 14-3-3 dimerization is unclear, it appears to be an important phenomenon (Aitken, 2002; Powell et al., 2002; Shen et al., 2003; Woodcock et al., 2003). Dimerization of 14-3-3 not only stabilizes its structure, but it allows the protein to



Figure 1.7. *14-3-3 protein structure*. This model is based on the crystal structure of 14-3-3 ζ dimer. The arrows indicate the location where phosphoserine peptides bind within the ligand-binding groove (Dougherty and Morrison, 2004). Reprinted with permission from: J Cell Sci 2004 117: 1875-1884 and Company of Biologists Ltd.

function as an adaptor wherein each monomer can interact with a different protein and promote a novel protein complex (Jones *et al.*, 1995; Aitken *et al.*, 2002; Ferl *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, 14-3-3 heterodimerization may partially account for its specificity towards some target binding proteins. This is supported by the observation that heterodimerization of 14-3-3 protein appears to be tightly regulated *in vivo*, especially during development, where we observe isoform-specific spatial and temporal gene expression in plants and animals (McConnell *et al.*, 1995; Wang and Shakes, 1996; Rosenquist *et al.*, 2000; Tzivion *et al.*, 2001; Yaffe, 2002).

1.4.2. 14-3-3 localization

14-3-3 proteins were first identified in brain tissue where they demonstrate the highest abundance, but in fact they seem to be present in all tissues (Ferl *et al.*, 2002; Dougherty and Morrison, 2004). 14-3-3 proteins have been observed in both the cytoplasm and in the nucleus, and have been found to be associated with the cytoskeleton, centrosomes and membranes. As of yet, there is no definite explanation of

the requirement for the seven highly conserved 14-3-3 isoforms in mammals (Wang and Shakes, 1996; Fu *et al.*, 2000; Tzivion *et al.*, 2001). In fact, it still remains unclear whether individual 14-3-3 isoforms have specialized functions or whether their actions depend entirely on tissue-specific regulation and/or temporal and developmental control (Rosenquist *et al.*, 2000; Aitken, 2002; Sehnke *et al.*, 2002; Yaffe, 2002). Despite the significant structural similarity between 14-3-3 isoforms, there is evidence to support the notion that 14-3-3 proteins might slightly differ from one another based on their

differential subcellular localization and expression, and their specificity towards different protein binding partners (Tzivion and Avruch, 2002).

1.4.3. Phosphorylation

Signal transduction events often involve phosphorylation-dependent transition states of a protein and it is becoming apparent that such changes are not always spontaneous but in many cases, are caused by the phosphorylation-induced association with accessory proteins (McGonigle *et al.*, 2001; Foschi *et al.*, 2001; McGonigle *et al.*, 2002). Phosphorylation of the 14-3-3 target protein generally seems to increase its interaction with 14-3-3 (Zenke *et al.*, 2004) and this phosphorylation-dependent protein interaction may differentially affect the function of the target protein (Muslin *et al.*, 1996; Yaffe, 2002; Dumaz and Marais, 2003; Tazawa *et al.*, 2003).

Several 14-3-3 isoforms have been shown to be phosphorylated by kinases including PKC (Van Der Hoeven *et al.*, 2000), casein kinase I (Dubois *et al.*, 1997) and a serine kinase sphingosine-dependent protein kinase (SDK1) (Megidish *et al.*, 1998; Woodcock *et al.*, 2003), and it has been hypothesized that phosphorylation is a mechanism by which 14-3-3 function can be regulated. Thus, it is thought that the phosphorylation of 14-3-3 may alter its ability to dimerize with itself and/or to bind to its target proteins. However the physiological significance of 14-3-3 phosphorylation and how 14-3-3 proteins are regulated *in vivo* still remains to be elucidated (Tzivion *et al.*, 2001).

14-3-3 proteins demonstrate a range of functions that are highly dependent on the target protein itself (Mackintosh, 2004). For example 14-3-3 proteins can bind to a single protein and affect its conformation and/or enzymatic activity, as well as reveal or mask functional motifs that can ultimately alter a protein's localization, stability, activity and/or phosphorylation state (Yaffe, 2002). In other cases, 14-3-3 proteins may bind to two proteins simultaneously and promote cross-talk between different networks and/or recruit effector enzymes for downstream signalling (El Far and Betz, 2002; Olayioye *et al.*, 2003), as is observed with the α_2 -adrenergic receptor (Prezeau *et al.*, 1999).

All 14-3-3 proteins contain a nuclear export signal (NES) that behaves as a regulator of subcellular localization, whereby 14-3-3 alters the cytoplasmic/nuclear localization of its target proteins and via spatial control modulates their function in signalling pathways (Gorlich and Mattaj, 1996; Lopez-Girona *et al.*, 1999; Rittinger *et al.*, 1999; Zhang *et al.*, 1999; Sehnke *et al.*, 2002). This is clearly seen in the glucocorticoid signalling pathway, where 14-3-3 σ acts as a negative regulator of the glucocorticoid receptor by interacting with and promoting cytoplasmic subcellular localization of the ligand-free receptor (Kino *et al.*, 2003). Finally, 14-3-3 proteins are able to bind to and sequester proteins in subcellular compartments, preventing further interactions with their targets. This occurs in the phosphorylation-dependent binding of 14-3-3 to BAD (a pro-apoptotic member of the Bcl-2 family), in which 14-3-3 blocks apoptosis by relocating BAD from the mitochondria (Datta *et al.*, 2000). In fact, it has been hypothesized that a similar mechanism may be responsible for the inhibitory action of 14-3-3 on RGS proteins.

Recently, RGS1, RGS3, RGS7, RGS8, RGS9 and RGS16 have all been identified as 14-3-3 binding partners, and thus far it appears that 14-3-3 proteins impede RGS function by such binding (Benzing *et al.*, 2000; Benzing *et al.*, 2002; Niu *et al.*, 2002; Garzon *et al.*, 2005; Ward and Milligan, 2005). A study carried out by Benzing *et al.* (2000) demonstrated that 14-3-3 τ was able to abolish the inhibitory effect of RGS3 on the carbachol-mediated MAP kinase activation in HEK293 cells. Subsequently, Schreiber *et al.* (2001) observed that 14-3-3 τ suppressed the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) by antagonizing the inhibitory effects of RGS3 on G α i2 protein. Finally, the fast RGS7-mediated deactivation kinetics of G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels (GIRKs) were slowed by the 14-3-3 τ isoform (Benzing *et al.*, 2002).

The foregoing observations suggest that 14-3-3 may impede RGS protein GAP activity, and indeed this has been demonstrated with 14-3-3-dependent decreases in the inhibitory effects of both RGS3 and RGS7 on G protein-mediated signals, and a reduced GAP effect of RGS7 on free Gai1 (Benzing *et al.*, 2000) (Figure 1.8). However, a recent study failed to show inhibition of RGS7 and RGS16 GAP activity by 14-3-3 proteins in a GPCR-dependent, steady state GTP hydrolysis assay using membranes from HEK293 cells. The reason for this discrepancy is unclear and the effects of 14-3-3 proteins on RGS GAP activity still remain to be established in a receptor-activated G protein model system.



Figure 1.8. 14-3-3 and RGS proteins. 14-3-3 proteins have been observed to bind to phosphorylated RGS3 and RGS7 and inhibit their GAP activity. (3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3, 14-3

The primary 14-3-3-binding site on RGS7 and RGS3 appears to be located within the Gabinding RGS domain at a conserved ⁴³⁴SYP motif (Benzing et al., 2000; Benzing et al., 2002). Interestingly, the SYP motif is present in about half of all RGS proteins, suggesting that other RGS isoforms may also be subject to 14-3-3 regulation (Figure 1.9). According to Benzing et al. (2002), divergent sequences are thought to preclude 14-3-3 -RGS interactions. For example, the SYR-containing RGS4 was found by this group to lack apparent sensitivity to 14-3-3, but it did appear to interact when a proline residue was substituted for the divergent arginine. In contrast to these findings, recent data suggest that 14-3-3 – RGS protein binding interactions may be less limited than originally perceived. Another study found that RGS9-2, which has an alanine substituted for the conserved proline, can bind to 14-3-3 (Garzon et al., 2005) (Figure 1.9). Similarly, RGS3 appears to have a second 14-3-3-binding site that is outside the RGS domain, located near the N-terminus (Niu et al., 2002; Ward and Milligan, 2005). Despite the differences in the putative 14-3-3-binding site within RGS proteins, it is clear that 14-3-3 proteins seem to modulate RGS function by interfering with its binding to Ga proteins.

14-3-3 proteins are primarily known to bind to phosphorylated target proteins and previous reports have claimed that phosphorylation of the RGS protein is required for 14-3-3 binding. Indeed, phosphorylation of RGS3 and RGS7 increases their apparent affinities for 14-3-3, and the protein interaction appears to be dependent upon the phosphorylation of serine 434 (SYP motif) within RGS7 and analogously of serine 264 (N-terminus) within RGS3 (Benzing *et al.*, 2000; Niu *et al.*, 2002; Ward and Milligan, 2005). In support of this concept, cellular phosphatases appear to increase the pool of



Figure 1.9. *The SYP motif in RGS proteins.* The sequences represent the alignment of the end portion of the RGS domain and illustrate all mouse RGS proteins that possess the conserved putative 14-3-3 binding motif <u>SYP</u>, while the emphasizes divergent motifs in RGS proteins that are relevant to the discussion. * indicates the most conserved residues among mammalian RGS proteins and invertebrate homologs.

active RGS7 by impeding 14-3-3 binding to RGS proteins (Benzing *et al.*, 2000; Benzing *et al.*, 2002; Niu *et al.*, 2002). Hence, the phosphorylation-dependent interaction of RGS proteins with 14-3-3 may serve as a mechanism to rapidly modulate RGS protein GAP activity without altering their expression (Figure 1.8).

However, it is becoming apparent that phosphorylation of serine residues within the RGS binding sites may not be required for all RGS-14-3-3 interactions. Recently, it has been demonstrated that once the serine residue within the SYP motif is mutated into an aspartate, which is thought to act as a phosphoserine mimic, 14-3-3 binding to both RGS3 and RGS16 remains unchanged compared to wild-type. However, this substitution seems to be detrimental to RGS GAP activity (Ward and Milligan, 2005). These data suggest that phosphorylation of this conserved serine does not necessarily increase the binding affinity of 14-3-3 to an RGS protein, but rather might be a potential modulator of RGS function itself. In fact, phosphorylation of some RGS proteins has the ability to either decrease or increase GAP activity (i.e. RGS9) (Riddle et al., 2005), as well as to affect their intracellular localization (Chidiac and Roy, 2003). Thus, it may be that phosphorylation of serine 434 is unique to RGS7, where it appears to promote 14-3-3 binding and this might not occur in all RGS proteins. In the case where phosphorylation of RGS proteins does increase 14-3-3 binding (i.e. RGS3, RGS7), additional phosphorylation sites may be involved that could contribute to the inhibition of GAP activity seen in vitro. Despite the controversy regarding the requirement of RGS phosphorylation for 14-3-3 association, it is becoming evident that 14-3-3 proteins are likely associated with, and important regulators of RGS function in vivo and in vitro.

1.6. Rationale for the Present Studies

The activity of RGS proteins can be regulated in a number of different ways and one possible mechanism is through their interaction with other proteins. Auxiliary proteins such as GIPC seem to be tightly intertwined in signal transduction pathways, and play essential roles in organizing and cross-linking various signalling components. For this reason, our interest lies in determining novel RGS binding partners that may modulate their function and ultimately affect receptor signalling.

The primary 14-3-3 binding site(s) within RGS proteins is still under investigation. Based on peptide sequence analysis, RGS3, RGS9, RGS12, RGS14 and RGS19 all possess the putative 14-3-3-binding domain in the N-terminus, while the SYP motif is present in RGS1, RGS2, RGS3, RGS7, RGS8, RGS11, RGS13, RGS16, RGS19, RGS20 (Figure 1.9). Indeed, it is possible that RGS proteins possess distinct or even multiple 14-3-3binding sites (Yaffe *et al.*, 1997; Tzivion *et al.*, 2001), in which the additional sites may increase the affinity and stability of this protein-protein interaction. This is seen in the association of 14-3-3 with several other target proteins, such as c-Raf-1 which contains at least two 14-3-3 binding sequences (Tzivion *et al.*, 1998; Sehnke *et al.*, 2002).

A yeast 2-hybrid screen in our laboratory revealed that 14-3-3 ϵ was indeed a putative binding partner for RGS4, when screened against a mouse brain cDNA library, in contrast to the findings of Benzing *et al.* (2000). This observation served as the impetus for the work described in this thesis, and led to the detailed investigation of the interaction between 14-3-3 and other RGS proteins belonging to the B/R4 subfamily. RGS4, RGS5

33

and RGS16 are highly homologous and little is known about their binding to 14-3-3 proteins. To compare 14-3-3 ϵ to an isoform known to form homodimers, and additionally to allow comparison with previous studies on 14-3-3 and RGS proteins (Benzing *et al.*, 2000; Benzing *et al.*, 2002), we studied the effects of 14-3-3 β concurrently. Based on the available literature, one may question the importance of the SYP motif within the RGS domain and its phosphorylation in terms of the binding of RGS to 14-3-3 proteins.

The main objectives of my thesis are:

- To characterize the direct interaction of RGS proteins (specifically RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16) with two isoforms of 14-3-3 [14-3-3 beta (β) and 14-3-3 epsilon (ε)] in different experimental systems
- (2) To establish the functional significance of the protein interactions observed using *in vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assays and competitive pull-down experiments
- (3) To investigate the role of the tyrosine residue in the SYP putative 14-3-3-binding motif within the RGS domain

We hypothesize that 14-3-3 proteins directly bind to RGS proteins and act as negative modulators of RGS GAP activity by sequestering them away from their G protein targets (Figure 1.10).



Figure 1.10. Model mechanism for the role of 14-3-3 on RGS function. The GPCR signalling pathway is activated by the binding of an agonist that leads to the exchange of GDP for GTP on the G α subunit, a conformational change of the heterotrimeric G protein and the binding of G α to the receptor. (1) In the presence of RGS alone, the signal transduction pathway is inhibited by RGS GAP activity but (2) in the presence of 14-3-3 proteins, signalling is prolonged due to the 14-3-3 - RGS complex that sequesters the RGS protein away from the G protein.

1.7. References

Abramow-Newerly M, Roy A A, Nunn C and Chidiac P (2005) RGS Proteins Have a Signalling Complex: Interactions Between RGS Proteins and GPCRs, Effectors, and Auxiliary Proteins. *Cell Signal* In Press.

Aitken A (2002) Functional Specificity in 14-3-3 Isoform Interactions Through Dimer Formation and Phosphorylation. Chromosome Location of Mammalian Isoforms and Variants. *Plant Mol Biol* **50**:993-1010.

Aitken A, Baxter H, Dubois T, Clokie S, Mackie S, Mitchell K, Peden A and Zemlickova E (2002) Specificity of 14-3-3 Isoform Dimer Interactions and Phosphorylation. *Biochem* Soc Trans **30**:351-360.

Bae S, Xiao Y, Li G, Casiano C A and Zhang L (2003) Effect of Maternal Chronic Hypoxic Exposure During Gestation on Apoptosis in Fetal Rat Heart. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **285**:H983-H990.

Benians A, Nobles M, Hosny S and Tinker A (2005) Regulators of G-Protein Signaling Form a Quaternary Complex With the Agonist, Receptor, and G-Protein: A Novel Explanation for the Acceleration of Signaling Activation Kinetics. *J Biol Chem* **280**:13383-13394.

Benzing T, Kottgen M, Johnson M, Schermer B, Zentgraf H, Walz G and Kim E (2002) Interaction of 14-3-3 Protein With Regulator of G Protein Signaling 7 Is Dynamically Regulated by Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha. *J Biol Chem* **277**:32954-32962.

Benzing T, Yaffe M B, Arnould T, Sellin L, Schermer B, Schilling B, Schreiber R, Kunzelmann K, Leparc G G, Kim E and Walz G (2000) 14-3-3 Interacts With Regulator of G Protein Signaling Proteins and Modulates Their Activity. *J Biol Chem* **275**:28167-28172.

Bernstein LS, Ramineni S, Hague C, Cladman W, Chidiac P, Levey A I and Hepler J R (2004) RGS2 Binds Directly and Selectively to the M1 Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptor Third Intracellular Loop to Modulate Gq/11(Alpha) Signaling. *J Biol Chem* **279**:21248-21256.

Berridge MJ, Lipp P and Bootman M D (2000) The Versatility and Universality of Calcium Signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 1:11-21.

Bialkowska K, Zaffran Y, Meyer S C and Fox J E (2003) 14-3-3 Zeta Mediates Integrin-Induced Activation of Cdc42 and Rac. Platelet Glycoprotein Ib-IX Regulates Integrin-Induced Signaling by Sequestering 14-3-3 Zeta. *J Biol Chem* **278**:33342-33350.

Blobe GC, Liu X, Fang S J, How T and Lodish H F (2001) A Novel Mechanism for Regulating Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF-Beta) Signaling. Functional Modulation of Type III TGF-Beta Receptor Expression Through Interaction With the PDZ Domain Protein, GIPC. *J Biol Chem* **276**:39608-39617. Bockaert J, Fagni L, Dumuis A and Marin P (2004) GPCR Interacting Proteins (GIP). *Pharmacol Ther* **103**:203-221.

Bockaert J, Marin P, Dumuis A and Fagni L (2003) The 'Magic Tail' of G Protein-Coupled Receptors: an Anchorage for Functional Protein Networks. *FEBS Lett* **546**:65-72.

Bonnefoy-Berard N, Liu Y C, von Willebrand M, Sung A, Elly C, Mustelin T, Yoshida H, Ishizaka K and Altman A (1995) Inhibition of Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Activity by Association With 14-3-3 Proteins in T Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**:10142-10146.

Booth RA, Cummings C, Tiberi M and Liu X J (2002) GIPC Participates in G Protein Signaling Downstream of Insulin-Like Growth Factor 1 Receptor. *J Biol Chem* 277:6719-6725.

Buchsbaum RJ, Connolly B A and Feig L A (2003) Regulation of P70 S6 Kinase by Complex Formation Between the Rac Guanine Nucleotide Exchange Factor (Rac-GEF) Tiam1 and the Scaffold Spinophilin. *J Biol Chem* **278**:18833-18841.

Bunn RC, Jensen M A and Reed B C (1999) Protein Interactions With the Glucose Transporter Binding Protein GLUT1CBP That Provide a Link Between GLUT1 and the Cytoskeleton. *Mol Biol Cell* **10**:819-832.

Burgon PG, Lee W L, Nixon A B, Peralta E G and Casey P J (2001) Phosphorylation and Nuclear Translocation of a Regulator of G Protein Signaling (RGS10). *J Biol Chem* **276**:32828-32834.

Cabrera-Vera TM, Hernandez S, Earls L R, Medkova M, Sundgren-Andersson A K, Surmeier D J and Hamm H E (2004) RGS9-2 Modulates D2 Dopamine Receptor-Mediated Ca(2+) Channel Inhibition in Rat Striatal Cholinergic Interneurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:16339-16344.

Cai H and Reed R R (1999) Cloning and Characterization of Neuropilin-1-Interacting Protein: a PSD-95/Dlg/ZO-1 Domain-Containing Protein That Interacts With the Cytoplasmic Domain of Neuropilin-1. *J Neurosci* **19**:6519-6527.

Camoni L, Harper J F and Palmgren M G (1998) 14-3-3 Proteins Activate a Plant Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase (CDPK). *FEBS Lett* **430**:381-384.

Chasse SA and Dohlman H G (2003) RGS Proteins: G Protein-Coupled Receptors Meet Their Match. *Assay Drug Dev Technol* 1:357-364.

Chatterjee TK, Liu Z and Fisher R A (2003) Human RGS6 Gene Structure, Complex Alternative Splicing, and Role of N Terminus and G Protein Gamma-Subunit-Like (GGL) Domain in Subcellular Localization of RGS6 Splice Variants. *J Biol Chem* **278**:30261-30271. Chaudhri M, Scarabel M and Aitken A (2003) Mammalian and Yeast 14-3-3 Isoforms Form Distinct Patterns of Dimers in Vivo. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **300**:679-685.

Chidiac P (1998) Rethinking Receptor-G Protein-Effector Interactions. *Biochem Pharmacol* **55**:549-556.

Chidiac P and Roy A A (2003) Activity, Regulation, and Intracellular Localization of RGS Proteins. *Recept Channels* **9**:135-147.

Civera C, Simon B, Stier G, Sattler M and Macias M J (2005) Structure and Dynamics of the Human Pleckstrin DEP Domain: Distinct Molecular Features of a Novel DEP Domain Subfamily. *Proteins* **58**:354-366.

Cladman W and Chidiac P (2002) Characterization and Comparison of RGS2 and RGS4 As GTPase-Activating Proteins for M2 Muscarinic Receptor-Stimulated G(i). *Mol Pharmacol* **62**:654-659.

Clark EA, King W G, Brugge J S, Symons M and Hynes R O (1998) Integrin-Mediated Signals Regulated by Members of the Rho Family of GTPases. *J Cell Biol* **142**:573-586.

Conklin DS, Galaktionov K and Beach D (1995) 14-3-3 Proteins Associate With Cdc25 Phosphatases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**:7892-7896.

Couve A, Kittler J T, Uren J M, Calver A R, Pangalos M N, Walsh F S and Moss S J (2001) Association of GABA(B) Receptors and Members of the 14-3-3 Family of Signaling Proteins. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 17:317-328.

Craparo A, Freund R and Gustafson T A (1997) 14-3-3 (Epsilon) Interacts With the Insulin-Like Growth Factor I Receptor and Insulin Receptor Substrate I in a Phosphoserine-Dependent Manner. *J Biol Chem* **272**:11663-11669.

Datta SR, Katsov A, Hu L, Petros A, Fesik S W, Yaffe M B and Greenberg M E (2000) 14-3-3 Proteins and Survival Kinases Cooperate to Inactivate BAD by BH3 Domain Phosphorylation. *Mol Cell* **6**:41-51.

De Vries L, Elenko E, McCaffery J M, Fischer T, Hubler L, McQuistan T, Watson N and Farquhar M G (1998a) RGS-GAIP, a GTPase-Activating Protein for G (Alpha)i Heterotrimeric G Proteins, Is Located on Clathrin-Coated Vesicles. *Mol Biol Cell* **9**:1123-1134.

De Vries L and Gist-Farquhar M. (1999) RGS Proteins: More Than Just GAPs for Heterotrimeric G Proteins. *Trends Cell Biol* **9**:138-144.

De Vries L, Lou X, Zhao G, Zheng B and Farquhar M G (1998b) GIPC, a PDZ Domain Containing Protein, Interacts Specifically With the C Terminus of RGS-GAIP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**:12340-12345.

De Vries L, Zheng B, Fischer T, Elenko E and Farquhar M G (2000) The Regulator of G Protein Signaling Family. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**:235-271.

Dougherty MK and Morrison D K (2004) Unlocking the Code of 14-3-3. *J Cell Sci* **117**:1875-1884.

Downes GB and Gautam N (1999) The G Protein Subunit Gene Families. *Genomics* 62:544-552.

Druey KM (2001) Bridging With GAPs: Receptor Communication Through RGS Proteins. *Sci STKE* 2001:RE14.

Dubois T, Rommel C, Howell S, Steinhussen U, Soneji Y, Morrice N, Moelling K and Aitken A (1997) 14-3-3 Is Phosphorylated by Casein Kinase I on Residue 233. Phosphorylation at This Site in Vivo Regulates Raf/14-3-3 Interaction. *J Biol Chem* **272**:28882-28888.

Dulin NO, Sorokin A, Reed E, Elliott S, Kehrl J H and Dunn M J (1999) RGS3 Inhibits G Protein-Mediated Signaling Via Translocation to the Membrane and Binding to Galpha11. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**:714-723.

Dumaz N and Marais R (2003) Protein Kinase A Blocks Raf-1 Activity by Stimulating 14-3-3 Binding and Blocking Raf-1 Interaction With Ras. *J Biol Chem* **278**:29819-29823.

El Far O and Betz H (2002) G-Protein-Coupled Receptors for Neurotransmitter Amino Acids: C-Terminal Tails, Crowded Signalosomes. *Biochem J* **365**:329-336.

Fanning AS and Anderson J M (1999) PDZ Domains: Fundamental Building Blocks in the Organization of Protein Complexes at the Plasma Membrane. *J Clin Invest* **103**:767-772.

Ferl RJ, Manak M S and Reyes M F (2002) The 14-3-3s. Genome Biol 3: REVIEWS3010.

Fischer T, De Vries L, Meerloo T and Farquhar M G (2003) Promotion of G (Alpha) I3 Subunit Down-Regulation by GIPN, a Putative E3 Ubiquitin Ligase That Interacts With RGS-GAIP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**:8270-8275.

Fischer T, Elenko E, Wan L, Thomas G and Farquhar M G (2000) Membrane-Associated GAIP Is a Phosphoprotein and Can Be Phosphorylated by Clathrin-Coated Vesicles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**:4040-4045.

Foschi M, Franchi F, Han J, La Villa G and Sorokin A (2001) Endothelin-1 Induces Serine Phosphorylation of the Adaptor Protein P66Shc and Its Association With 14-3-3 Protein in Glomerular Mesangial Cells. *J Biol Chem* **276**:26640-26647.

Fu H, Subramanian R R and Masters S C (2000) 14-3-3 Proteins: Structure, Function, and Regulation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**:617-647.

Furlanetto RW, Dey B R, Lopaczynski W and Nissley S P (1997) 14-3-3 Proteins Interact With the Insulin-Like Growth Factor Receptor but Not the Insulin Receptor. *Biochem J* **327**:765-771.

Gao Y, Li M, Chen W and Simons M (2000) Synectin, Syndecan-4 Cytoplasmic Domain Binding PDZ Protein, Inhibits Cell Migration. *J Cell Physiol* **184**:373-379.

Garzon J, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Lopez-Fando A, Garcia-Espana A and Sanchez-Blazquez P (2004) RGSZ1 and GAIP Regulate Mu- but Not Delta-Opioid Receptors in Mouse CNS: Role in Tachyphylaxis and Acute Tolerance. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **29**:1091-1104.

Garzon J, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Lopez-Fando A and Sanchez-Blazquez P (2005) Activation of Mu-Opioid Receptors Transfers Control of G Alpha Subunits to the Regulator of G-Protein Signaling RGS9-2: Role in Receptor Desensitization. *J Biol Chem* **280**:8951-8960.

Ghavami A, Hunt R A, Olsen M A, Zhang J, Smith D L, Kalgaonkar S, Rahman Z and Young K H (2004) Differential Effects of Regulator of G Protein Signaling (RGS) Proteins on Serotonin 5-HT1A, 5-HT2A, and Dopamine D2 Receptor-Mediated Signaling and Adenylyl Cyclase Activity. *Cell Signal* 16:711-721.

Gorlich D and Mattaj I W (1996) Nucleocytoplasmic Transport. Science 271:1513-1518.

Grillet N, Pattyn A, Contet C, Kieffer B L, Goridis C and Brunet J F (2005) Generation and Characterization of Rgs4 Mutant Mice. *Mol Cell Biol* **25**:4221-4228.

Gross V, Tank J, Obst M, Plehm R, Blumer K J, Diedrich A, Jordan J and Luft F C (2005) Autonomic Nervous System and Blood Pressure Regulation in RGS2-Deficient Mice. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **288**:R1134-R1142.

Hague C, Bernstein L S, Ramineni S, Chen Z, Minneman K P and Hepler J R (2005) Selective Inhibition of Alpha 1A-Adrenergic Receptor Signaling by RGS2 Association With the Receptor Third Intracellular Loop. *J Biol Chem* **280**:27289-27295.

Hirakawa T, Galet C, Kishi M and Ascoli M (2003) GIPC Binds to the Human Lutropin Receptor (HLHR) Through an Unusual PDZ Domain Binding Motif, and It Regulates the Sorting of the Internalized Human Choriogonadotropin and the Density of Cell Surface HLHR. *J Biol Chem* **278**:49348-49357.

Hollinger S and Hepler J R (2002) Cellular Regulation of RGS Proteins: Modulators and Integrators of G Protein Signaling. *Pharmacol Rev* **54**:527-559.

Hu LA, Chen W, Martin N P, Whalen E J, Premont R T and Lefkowitz R J (2003) GIPC Interacts With the Beta1-Adrenergic Receptor and Regulates Beta1-Adrenergic Receptor-Mediated ERK Activation. *J Biol Chem* **278**:26295-26301.

Ingi T, Krumins A M, Chidiac P, Brothers G M, Chung S, Snow B E, Barnes C A, Lanahan A A, Siderovski D P, Ross E M, Gilman A G and Worley P F (1998) Dynamic Regulation of RGS2 Suggests a Novel Mechanism in G Protein Signaling and Neuronal Plasticity. *J Neurosci* 18:7178-7188.

Irie K, Gotoh Y, Yashar B M, Errede B, Nishida E and Matsumoto K (1994) Stimulatory Effects of Yeast and Mammalian 14-3-3 Proteins on the Raf Protein Kinase. *Science* **265**:1716-1719.

Ishii M, Fujita S, Yamada M, Hosaka Y and Kurachi Y (2005) Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-Trisphosphate and Ca2+/Calmodulin Competitively Bind to the Regulators of G-Protein-Signalling (RGS) Domain of RGS4 and Reciprocally Regulate Its Action. *Biochem J* **385**:65-73.

Ishii M, Inanobe A, Fujita S, Makino Y, Hosoya Y and Kurachi Y (2001) Ca(2+) Elevation Evoked by Membrane Depolarization Regulates G Protein Cycle Via RGS Proteins in the Heart. *Circ Res* **89**:1045-1050.

Ishii M, Inanobe A and Kurachi Y (2002) PIP3 Inhibition of RGS Protein and Its Reversal by Ca2+/Calmodulin Mediate Voltage-Dependent Control of the G Protein Cycle in a Cardiac K+ Channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**:4325-4330.

Ishii M and Kurachi Y (2004) Assays of RGS Protein Modulation by Phosphatidylinositides and Calmodulin. *Methods Enzymol* **389**:105-118.

Jeanneteau F, Diaz J, Sokoloff P and Griffon N (2004a) Interactions of GIPC With Dopamine D2, D3 but Not D4 Receptors Define a Novel Mode of Regulation of G Protein-Coupled Receptors. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**:696-705.

Jeanneteau F, Guillin O, Diaz J, Griffon N and Sokoloff P (2004b) GIPC Recruits GAIP (RGS19) to Attenuate Dopamine D2 Receptor Signaling. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**:4926-4937.

Jones DH, Martin H, Madrazo J, Robinson K A, Nielsen P, Roseboom P H, Patel Y, Howell S A and Aitken A (1995) Expression and Structural Analysis of 14-3-3 Proteins. *J Mol Biol* **245**:375-384.

Katoh M (2002) GIPC Gene Family (Review). Int J Mol Med 9:585-589.

Keresztes G, Martemyanov K A, Krispel C M, Mutai H, Yoo P J, Maison S F, Burns M E, Arshavsky V Y and Heller S (2004) Absence of the RGS9.Gbeta5 GTPase-Activating Complex in Photoreceptors of the R9AP Knockout Mouse. *J Biol Chem* **279**:1581-1584.

Kim E, Arnould T, Sellin L, Benzing T, Comella N, Kocher O, Tsiokas L, Sukhatme V P and Walz G (1999) Interaction Between RGS7 and Polycystin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**:6371-6376.

Kino T, Souvatzoglou E, De Martino M U, Tsopanomihalu M, Wan Y and Chrousos G P (2003) Protein 14-3-3 Sigma Interacts With and Favors Cytoplasmic Subcellular

Localization of the Glucocorticoid Receptor, Acting As a Negative Regulator of the Glucocorticoid Signaling Pathway. *J Biol Chem* **278**:25651-25656.

Kjeldgaard M, Nyborg J and Clark B F (1996) The GTP Binding Motif: Variations on a Theme. *FASEB J* 10:1347-1368.

Kolakowski LF, Jr. (1994) GCRDb: a G-Protein-Coupled Receptor Database. *Recept Channels* **2**:1-7.

Kovoor A, Seyffarth P, Ebert J, Barghshoon S, Chen C K, Schwarz S, Axelrod J D, Cheyette B N, Simon M I, Lester H A and Schwarz J (2005) D2 Dopamine Receptors Colocalize Regulator of G-Protein Signaling 9-2 (RGS9-2) Via the RGS9 DEP Domain, and RGS9 Knock-Out Mice Develop Dyskinesias Associated With Dopamine Pathways. *J Neurosci* 25:2157-2165.

Kreienkamp HJ (2002) Organisation of G-Protein-Coupled Receptor Signalling Complexes by Scaffolding Proteins. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **2**:581-586.

Kristiansen K (2004) Molecular Mechanisms of Ligand Binding, Signaling, and Regulation Within the Superfamily of G-Protein-Coupled Receptors: Molecular Modeling and Mutagenesis Approaches to Receptor Structure and Function. *Pharmacol Ther* **103**:21-80.

Larminie C, Murdock P, Walhin J P, Duckworth M, Blumer K J, Scheideler M A and Garnier M (2004) Selective Expression of Regulators of G-Protein Signaling (RGS) in the Human Central Nervous System. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **122**:24-34.

Leurs R, Smit M J, Alewijnse A E and Timmerman H (1998) Agonist-Independent Regulation of Constitutively Active G-Protein- Coupled Receptors. *Trends Biochem Sci* 23:418-422.

Levitzki A and Klein S (2002) G-Protein Subunit Dissociation Is Not an Integral Part of G-Protein Action. *Chembiochem* **3**:815-818.

Light Y, Paterson H and Marais R (2002) 14-3-3 Antagonizes Ras-Mediated Raf-1 Recruitment to the Plasma Membrane to Maintain Signaling Fidelity. *Mol Cell Biol* **22**:4984-4996.

Liu YC, Elly C, Yoshida H, Bonnefoy-Berard N and Altman A (1996) Activation-Modulated Association of 14-3-3 Proteins With Cbl in T Cells. *J Biol Chem* 271:14591-14595.

Liu Z, Chatterjee T K and Fisher R A (2002) RGS6 Interacts With SCG10 and Promotes Neuronal Differentiation. Role of the G Gamma Subunit-Like (GGL) Domain of RGS6. *J Biol Chem* **277**:37832-37839.

Liu Z and Fisher R A (2004) RGS6 Interacts With DMAP1 and DNMT1 and Inhibits DMAP1 Transcriptional Repressor Activity. *J Biol Chem* **279**:14120-14128.

Lopez-Girona A, Furnari B, Mondesert O and Russell P (1999) Nuclear Localization of Cdc25 Is Regulated by DNA Damage and a 14-3-3 Protein. *Nature* **397**:172-175.

Lou X, McQuistan T, Orlando R A and Farquhar M G (2002) GAIP, GIPC and Galphai3 Are Concentrated in Endocytic Compartments of Proximal Tubule Cells: Putative Role in Regulating Megalin's Function. *J Am Soc Nephrol* **13**:918-927.

Lou X, Yano H, Lee F, Chao M V and Farquhar M G (2001) GIPC and GAIP Form a Complex With TrkA: a Putative Link Between G Protein and Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Pathways. *Mol Biol Cell* **12**:615-627.

Luo X, Popov S, Bera A K, Wilkie T M and Muallem S (2001) RGS Proteins Provide Biochemical Control of Agonist-Evoked [Ca2+]i Oscillations. *Mol Cell* 7:651-660.

Mackintosh C (2004) Dynamic Interactions Between 14-3-3 Proteins and Phosphoproteins Regulate Diverse Cellular Processes. *Biochem J* 381:329-342.

Martemyanov KA, Lishko P V, Calero N, Keresztes G, Sokolov M, Strissel K J, Leskov I B, Hopp J A, Kolesnikov A V, Chen C K, Lem J, Heller S, Burns M E and Arshavsky V Y (2003) The DEP Domain Determines Subcellular Targeting of the GTPase Activating Protein RGS9 in Vivo. *J Neurosci* 23:10175-10181.

Martemyanov KA, Yoo P J, Skiba N P and Arshavsky V Y (2005) R7BP, a Novel Neuronal Protein Interacting With RGS Proteins of the R7 Family. *J Biol Chem* **280**:5133-5136.

Martin-McCaffrey L, Willard F S, Oliveira-Dos-Santos A J, Natale D R, Snow B E, Kimple R J, Pajak A, Watson A J, Dagnino L, Penninger J M, Siderovski D P and D'Souza S J (2004) RGS14 Is a Mitotic Spindle Protein Essential From the First Division of the Mammalian Zygote. *Dev Cell* 7:763-769.

McConnell JE, Armstrong J F, Hodges P E and Bard J B (1995) The Mouse 14-3-3 Epsilon Isoform, a Kinase Regulator Whose Expression Pattern Is Modulated in Mesenchyme and Neuronal Differentiation. *Dev Biol* **169**:218-228.

McGonigle S, Beall M J, Feeney E L and Pearce E J (2001) Conserved Role for 14-3-3 Epsilon Downstream of Type I TGFbeta Receptors. *FEBS Lett* **490**:65-69.

McGonigle S, Beall M J and Pearce E J (2002) Eukaryotic Initiation Factor 2 Alpha Subunit Associates With TGF Beta Receptors and 14-3-3 Epsilon and Acts As a Modulator of the TGF Beta Response. *Biochemistry* **41**:579-587.

Megidish T, Cooper J, Zhang L, Fu H and Hakomori S (1998) A Novel Sphingosine-Dependent Protein Kinase (SDK1) Specifically Phosphorylates Certain Isoforms of 14-3-3 Protein. *J Biol Chem* **273**:21834-21845.

Mhawech P (2005) 14-3-3 Proteins--an Update. Cell Res 15:228-236.

Muslin AJ, Tanner J W, Allen P M and Shaw A S (1996) Interaction of 14-3-3 With Signaling Proteins Is Mediated by the Recognition of Phosphoserine. *Cell* **84**:889-897.

Neer EJ (1995) Heterotrimeric G Proteins: Organizers of Transmembrane Signals. *Cell* **80**:249-257.

Neubig RR and Siderovski D P (2002) Regulators of G-Protein Signaling As New Central Nervous System Drug Targets. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 1:187-197.

Niu J, Scheschonka A, Druey K M, Davis A, Reed E, Kolenko V, Bodnar R, Voyno-Yasenetskaya T, Du X, Kehrl J and Dulin N O (2002) RGS3 Interacts With 14-3-3 Via the N-Terminal Region Distinct From the RGS (Regulator of G-Protein Signalling) Domain. *Biochem J* **365**:677-684.

Nixon AB, Grenningloh G and Casey P J (2002) The Interaction of RGSZ1 With SCG10 Attenuates the Ability of SCG10 to Promote Microtubule Disassembly. *J Biol Chem* **277**:18127-18133.

Olayioye MA, Guthridge MA, Stomski FC, Lopez AF, Visvader JE and Lindeman GJ (2003) Threonine 391 Phosphorylation of the Human Prolactin Receptor Mediates a Novel Interaction With 14-3-3 Proteins. *J Biol Chem* **278**:32929-32935.

Popov SG, Krishna U M, Falck J R and Wilkie T M (2000) Ca2+/Calmodulin Reverses Phosphatidylinositol 3,4, 5-Trisphosphate-Dependent Inhibition of Regulators of G Protein-Signaling GTPase-Activating Protein Activity. *J Biol Chem* **275**:18962-18968.

Powell DW, Rane M J, Chen Q, Singh S and McLeish K R (2002) Identification of 14-3-3 Zeta As a Protein Kinase B/Akt Substrate. *J Biol Chem* 277:21639-21642.

Pozuelo RM, Geraghty K M, Wong B H, Wood N T, Campbell D G, Morrice N and Mackintosh C (2004) 14-3-3-Affinity Purification of Over 200 Human Phosphoproteins Reveals New Links to Regulation of Cellular Metabolism, Proliferation and Trafficking. *Biochem J* **379**:395-408.

Prezeau L, Richman J G, Edwards S W and Limbird L E (1999) The Zeta Isoform of 14-3-3 Proteins Interacts With the Third Intracellular Loop of Different Alpha2-Adrenergic Receptor Subtypes. *J Biol Chem* **274**:13462-13469.

Rebois RV and Hebert T E (2003) Protein Complexes Involved in Heptahelical Receptor-Mediated Signal Transduction. *Recept Channels* **9**:169-194.

Reuther GW, Fu H, Cripe L D, Collier R J and Pendergast A M (1994) Association of the Protein Kinases C-Bcr and Bcr-Abl With Proteins of the 14-3-3 Family. *Science* **266**:129-133.

Riddle EL, Schwartzman R A, Bond M and Insel P A (2005) Multi-Tasking RGS Proteins in the Heart: the Next Therapeutic Target? *Circ Res* **96**:401-411.

Rittinger K, Budman J, Xu J, Volinia S, Cantley L C, Smerdon S J, Gamblin S J and Yaffe M B (1999) Structural Analysis of 14-3-3 Phosphopeptide Complexes Identifies a Dual Role for the Nuclear Export Signal of 14-3-3 in Ligand Binding. *Mol Cell* **4**:153-166.

Rodbell M (1980) The Role of Hormone Receptors and GTP-Regulatory Proteins in Membrane Transduction. *Nature* **284**:17-22.

Rosenquist M, Sehnke P, Ferl R J, Sommarin M and Larsson C (2000) Evolution of the 14-3-3 Protein Family: Does the Large Number of Isoforms in Multicellular Organisms Reflect Functional Specificity? *J Mol Evol* **51**:446-458.

Roy AA, Lemberg K E and Chidiac P (2003) Recruitment of RGS2 and RGS4 to the Plasma Membrane by G Proteins and Receptors Reflects Functional Interactions. *Mol Pharmacol* **64**:587-593.

Sadja R, Alagem N and Reuveny E (2003) Gating of GIRK Channels: Details of an Intricate, Membrane-Delimited Signaling Complex. *Neuron* **39**:9-12.

Schiff ML, Siderovski D P, Jordan J D, Brothers G, Snow B, De Vries L, Ortiz D F and Diverse-Pierluissi M (2000) Tyrosine-Kinase-Dependent Recruitment of RGS12 to the N-Type Calcium Channel. *Nature* **408**:723-727.

Schioth HB and Fredriksson R (2005) The GRAFS Classification System of G-Protein Coupled Receptors in Comparative Perspective. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* **142**:94-101.

Sehnke PC, DeLille J M and Ferl R J (2002) Consummating Signal Transduction: the Role of 14-3-3 Proteins in the Completion of Signal-Induced Transitions in Protein Activity. *Plant Cell* **14 Suppl**:S339-S354.

Shen YH, Godlewski J, Bronisz A, Zhu J, Comb M J, Avruch J and Tzivion G (2003) Significance of 14-3-3 Self-Dimerization for Phosphorylation-Dependent Target Binding. *Mol Biol Cell* **14**:4721-4733.

Siderovski DP and Willard F S (2005) The GAPs, GEFs, and GDIs of Heterotrimeric G-Protein Alpha Subunits. *Int J Med Microbiol* 1:51-66.

Sierra DA, Popov S and Wilkie T M (2000) Regulators of G-Protein Signaling in Receptor Complexes. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **10**:263-268.

Smith FD, Oxford G S and Milgram S L (1999) Association of the D2 Dopamine Receptor Third Cytoplasmic Loop With Spinophilin, a Protein Phosphatase-1-Interacting Protein. *J Biol Chem* **274**:19894-19900.

Snow BE, Hall R A, Krumins A M, Brothers G M, Bouchard D, Brothers C A, Chung S, Mangion J, Gilman A G, Lefkowitz R J and Siderovski D P (1998) GTPase Activating Specificity of RGS12 and Binding Specificity of an Alternatively Spliced PDZ (PSD-95/Dlg/ZO-1) Domain. *J Biol Chem* **273**:17749-17755.

Song L, De Sarno P and Jope R S (1999) Muscarinic Receptor Stimulation Increases Regulators of G-Protein Signaling 2 MRNA Levels Through a Protein Kinase C-Dependent Mechanism. *J Biol Chem* **274**:29689-29693.

Spence SL, Dey B R, Terry C, Albert P, Nissley P and Furlanetto R W (2003) Interaction of 14-3-3 Proteins With the Insulin-Like Growth Factor I Receptor (IGFIR): Evidence for a Role of 14-3-3 Proteins in IGFIR Signaling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **312**:1060-1066.

Tazawa H, Takahashi S and Zilliacus J (2003) Interaction of the Parathyroid Hormone Receptor With the 14-3-3 Protein. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1620**:32-38.

Tesmer JJ, Berman D M, Gilman A G and Sprang S R (1997) Structure of RGS4 Bound to AlF4-Activated G(i Alpha1): Stabilization of the Transition State for GTP Hydrolysis. *Cell* **89**:251-261.

Tsukada M, Prokscha A, Oldekamp J and Eichele G (2003) Identification of Neurabin II As a Novel Doublecortin Interacting Protein. *Mech Dev* **120**:1033-1043.

Tu Y, Woodson J and Ross E M (2001) Binding of Regulator of G Protein Signaling (RGS) Proteins to Phospholipid Bilayers. Contribution of Location and/or Orientation to GTPase-Activating Protein Activity. *J Biol Chem* **276**:20160-20166.

Tzivion G and Avruch J (2002) 14-3-3 Proteins: Active Cofactors in Cellular Regulation by Serine/Threonine Phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 277:3061-3064.

Tzivion G, Luo Z and Avruch J (1998) A Dimeric 14-3-3 Protein Is an Essential Cofactor for Raf Kinase Activity. *Nature* **394**:88-92.

Tzivion G, Shen Y H and Zhu J (2001) 14-3-3 Proteins; Bringing New Definitions to Scaffolding. *Oncogene* **20**:6331-6338.

Van Der Hoeven PC, Van Der Wal J C, Ruurs P, Van Dijk M C and Van B J (2000) 14-3-3 Isotypes Facilitate Coupling of Protein Kinase C-Zeta to Raf-1: Negative Regulation by 14-3-3 Phosphorylation. *Biochem J* **345 Pt 2**:297-306.

van Hemert MJ, Niemantsverdriet M, Schmidt T, Backendorf C and Spaink H P (2004) Isoform-Specific Differences in Rapid Nucleocytoplasmic Shuttling Cause Distinct Subcellular Distributions of 14-3-3 Sigma and 14-3-3 Zeta. *J Cell Sci* **117**:1411-1420.

Wang J, Tu Y, Woodson J, Song X and Ross E M (1997) A GTPase-Activating Protein for the G Protein Galphaz. Identification, Purification, and Mechanism of Action. *J Biol Chem* **272**:5732-5740.

Wang LH, Kalb R G and Strittmatter S M (1999) A PDZ Protein Regulates the Distribution of the Transmembrane Semaphorin, M-SemF. *J Biol Chem* **274**:14137-14146.

Wang W and Shakes D C (1996) Molecular Evolution of the 14-3-3 Protein Family. J Mol Evol 43:384-398.

Wang X, Zeng W, Soyombo A A, Tang W, Ross E M, Barnes A P, Milgram S L, Penninger J M, Allen P B, Greengard P and Muallem S (2005) Spinophilin Regulates Ca2+ Signalling by Binding the N-Terminal Domain of RGS2 and the Third Intracellular Loop of G-Protein-Coupled Receptors. *Nat Cell Biol* 7:405-411.

Ward RJ and Milligan G (2005) A Key Serine for the GTPase-Activating Protein Function of Regulators of G Protein Signalling Proteins Is Not a General Target for 14-3-3 Interactions. *Mol Pharmacol* In Press.

Wilker E and Yaffe M B (2004) 14-3-3 Proteins-a Focus on Cancer and Human Disease. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **37**:633-642.

Wilkie TM and Ross E M (2000) GTPase-Activating Proteins for Heterotrimeric G Proteins: Regulators of G Protein Signaling (RGS) and RGS-Like Proteins. *Annu Rev Biochem* 69:795-827.

Woodcock JM, Murphy J, Stomski F C, Berndt M C and Lopez A F (2003) The Dimeric Versus Monomeric Status of 14-3-3 Zeta Is Controlled by Phosphorylation of Ser58 at the Dimer Interface. *J Biol Chem* **278**:36323-36327.

Wylie F, Heimann K, Le T L, Brown D, Rabnott G and Stow J L (1999) GAIP, a Galphai-3-Binding Protein, Is Associated With Golgi-Derived Vesicles and Protein Trafficking. *Am J Pathol* 276:C497-C506.

Xing H, Zhang S, Weinheimer C, Kovacs A and Muslin A J (2000) 14-3-3 Proteins Block Apoptosis and Differentially Regulate MAPK Cascades. *EMBO J* 19:349-358.

Yaffe MB (2002) How Do 14-3-3 Proteins Work? - Gatekeeper Phosphorylation and the Molecular Anvil Hypothesis. *FEBS Lett* **513**:53-57.

Yaffe MB and Cantley L C (1999) Signal Transduction. Grabbing Phosphoproteins. *Nature* **402**:30-31.

Yaffe MB, Rittinger K, Volinia S, Caron P R, Aitken A, Leffers H, Gamblin S J, Smerdon S J and Cantley L C (1997) The Structural Basis for 14-3-3: Phosphopeptide Binding Specificity. *Cell* **91**:961-971.

Zenke FT, Krendel M, DerMardirossian C, King C C, Bohl B P and Bokoch G M (2004) P21-Activated Kinase 1 Phosphorylates and Regulates 14-3-3 Binding to GEF-H1, a Microtubule-Localized Rho Exchange Factor. *J Biol Chem* **279**:18392-18400.

Zhang S, Xing H and Muslin A J (1999) Nuclear Localization of Protein Kinase U-Alpha Is Regulated by 14-3-3. *J Biol Chem* **274**:24865-24872.

CHAPTER 2

MODULATION OF RGS FUNCTION BY 14-3-3 PROTEINS

2.1. Introduction

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are the most diverse type of cell surface protein and are involved in a wide variety of important physiological functions (Bockaert *et al.*, 2003; Kristiansen, 2004). In response to specific agonist signals, GPCRs act as guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) and accelerate the exchange of GDP for GTP on the G α subunit of heterotrimeric G proteins. This is followed by a conformational change within the G protein and activation of the G α subunit, whereby both the GTP-bound G α and the G $\beta\gamma$ subunits propagate downstream signalling via effectors and second messengers.

Regulator of G protein signalling (RGS) proteins are primarily known as negative regulators of G protein-mediated signalling pathways and function as GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) for the α subunit of hetrotrimeric G proteins (Watson *et al.*, 1996; Berman and Gilman, 1998; Wilkie and Ross, 2000; De Vries *et al.*, 2000). However, the functions of RGS proteins appear to be more complex *in vivo* than previously believed, and they should be seen as multifunctional signalling regulators due to their interaction with proteins other than G proteins through regions distinct from the RGS domain (De Vries and Gist-Farquhar M., 1999; Druey, 2001; Abramow-Newerly *et al.*, 2005). This is further supported by the observation that several RGS proteins are located in sites other than the plasma membrane, including in the nucleus (Burchett, 2003). The activity and expression of RGS proteins are highly regulated within the cell, as might be expected based on their profound effects on GPCR-mediated signalling. They appear to be modulated through various mechanisms including the regulation of their subcellular localization, post-translational modifications and interactions with protein binding partners (Song *et al.*, 1999; Kim *et al.*, 1999; Wilkie and Ross, 2000; Schiff *et al.*, 2000; Roy *et al.*, 2003; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2003). For instance, phosphorylation of RGS proteins affects their intracellular localization, as is observed with RGS4 (Pedram *et al.*, 2000), RGS19 (Fischer *et al.*, 2000) and RGS10 (Burgon *et al.*, 2001).

14-3-3 proteins are small dimeric proteins (27-32 kDa), with seven highly conserved isoforms (β , γ , ζ , σ , ϵ , η and τ .) in mammals, whose functions appear to be largely similar (Fu et al., 2000; Rosenquist et al., 2000; Tzivion et al., 2001; Aitken, 2002). 14-3-3 proteins were initially thought to bind to either of two specific phosphorylated motifs (RSXpSXP and RXY/FXpSSXP) (Muslin et al., 1996), however many binding partners have been identified that lack these motifs and it is now recognized that there are more than 200 binding partners, with some interactions occurring in a phosphorylationindependent manner (Dougherty and Morrison, 2004; Pozuelo et al., 2004). 14-3-3 proteins bind to a number of regulatory proteins and integral components of signal transduction, including several GPCRs (GABA_B, (Couve *et al.*, 2001), α_2 -adrenergic (Prezeau et al., 1999) and parathyroid hormone receptors (Tazawa et al., 2003)), as well as tyrosine kinase receptors (Furlanetto et al., 1997; Craparo et al., 1997; Spence et al., 2003), kinases (Reuther et al., 1994; Irie et al., 1994; Bonnefoy-Berard et al., 1995; Camoni et al., 1998; Light et al., 2002), phosphatases (Conklin et al., 1995), apoptosisrelated proteins (Datta et al., 2000; Bae et al., 2003) and protooncogene products (Liu et al., 1996). Despite having no detectable catalytic or functional domains (Tzivion et al., 2001), 14-3-3 proteins appear to be regulators of key signalling components and function primarily as chaperones, adaptors and scaffolds (Jones *et al.*, 1995; Ferl *et al.*, 2002; Wilker and Yaffe, 2004; Dougherty and Morrison, 2004).

RGS proteins can bind to, and be negatively modulated by 14-3-3 proteins (Schreiber *et al.*, 2001) and through a yeast 2-hybrid screen, we have identified 14-3-3 ϵ as a putative binding partner for RGS4. Previous studies by Benzing *et al.* (2000 and 2002) identified a primary 14-3-3-binding site on RGS3 and RGS7 that is located within the G α -binding RGS domain, at a conserved SYP motif. Moreover, another group demonstrated that RGS3 has a second 14-3-3-binding site that is outside the RGS domain, located near the N-terminus and which is dependent on the phosphorylation of serine 264 (Niu *et al.*, 2002; Ward and Milligan, 2005). Despite the differences in the 14-3-3-binding sites on RGS3 and RGS7, similar conclusions have been drawn that describe the ability of 14-3-3 proteins to interfere with the RGS-G α protein interaction. Hence, the phosphorylation-dependent interaction of RGS with 14-3-3 proteins may serve as a mechanism to rapidly modulate intracellular GAP activity without altering RGS protein expression (Benzing *et al.*, 2000; Niu *et al.*, 2002; Ward and Milligan, 2005).

Recent reports (Garzon *et al.*, 2005; Ward and Milligan, 2005) suggest that 14-3-3 – RGS protein binding interactions may be less limited than originally perceived. Here, we identify novel interactions between RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16 of the B/R4 subfamily and two 14-3-3 isoforms [14-3-3 beta (β) and 14-3-3 epsilon (ϵ)]. The main objectives of this study were (1) to characterize the direct interaction of RGS proteins with two 14-3-3 isoforms in different experimental systems, (2) to establish the functional significance of

the protein interactions observed using *in vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assays and competitive pull-down experiments, and finally (3) to investigate the role of the tyrosine residue in the SYP putative 14-3-3-binding motif within the RGS domain. Based on our data, we suggest a mechanism wherein 14-3-3 proteins negatively modulate RGS function and act as molecular chelators that sequester RGS proteins away from both the G protein and the plasma membrane. Thus, we conclude that 14-3-3 proteins indirectly promote GPCR signalling via their inhibitory effects on RGS proteins.

2.2. Materials and Methods

2.2.1. Constructs

Human 14-3-3β and 14-3-3ε, cloned into the bacterial/mammalian expression vector pTriEX4 (HIS-tagged), were gifts from Dr. M Kahn (Department of Pathobiology, University of Washington, USA) and were subcloned in-frame into the bacterial pGEX-4T1 expression vector (GST-tagged). Briefly, 14-3-3 fragments were cut with SmaI and NotI from pTriEx4 vector and inserted into pGEX-4T1 vector at EcoRI and NotI sites. Human pGEX-5X-3-RGS16 and human pGEX-5X-3-RGS5 were generously donated by Dr. MT Greenwood (Department of Medicine, McGill University, Canada). Rat pGEX-4T-RGS4 was a gift from Dr. RR Neubig (Departments of Pharmacology and Internal Medicine/Hypertension, University of Michigan, USA). Bacterial expression vectors

encoding N-terminally hexa-histidine-tagged rat RGS4 (QE-60-RGS4) and mouse RGS16 (pET20b-RGS16) were generously provided by Dr. JR Hepler (Department of Pharmacology, Emory University School of Medicine, USA). The open-reading frame of mouse RGS5 was cloned into pCR2.1-TOPO (Invitrogen, San Diego, CA) using previously described methods (Snow *et al.*, 2002) and was provided by Dr. DP Siderovski (Department of Pharmacology, The University of North Carolina, USA). Mouse RGS5 was cut with BamHI and XbaI restriction enzymes and inserted in-frame into pET19b expression vector. 3xHA-tagged human RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16 proteins (subcloned into the mammalian pDNA3.1(+) expression vector) were obtained from the UMR cDNA Resource Center (University of Missouri-Rolla). In all cases, HIS and GST tags within the RGS and 14-3-3 fusion proteins are located on the N-terminus. All constructs were sequenced and verified (DNA Sequencing Facility, Robarts Research Institute, University of Western Ontario, Canada).

Leucine to tyrosine (CTG to TAT), and tyrosine to leucine (TAT to TTG) RGS5 and RGS16 mutants respectively, were constructed using the Stratagene QuikChange sitedirected mutagenesis protocol. pET19b-RGS5 and pET20b-RGS16 were used as DNA templates and were amplified in a PCR reaction (16 cycles of amplification) using Platinum Pfx Taq Polymerase (Invitrogen). The following oligonucleotides, and their reverse complements were used as primers: pET19b-RGS5 (sense-CCTGATGGAGA AGGATTCTTATCCCCGCTTTGTGCGCTCTG) and pET20b-RGS16 (sense-GATGG AGAAGGACTCCTTGCCGCGCTTCCTCAAGTC). The presence of the appropriate mutations was confirmed by sequencing (DNA Sequencing Facility, Robarts Research Institute, University of Western Ontario, Canada).

2.2.2. Protein purification

N-terminally hexa-histidine (6xHis)-tagged RGS and 14-3-3 proteins were purified from Escherichia coli (E. coli) strain BL21/DE3 essentially as described in Cladman and Chidiac (2002). Five hundred ml of LB media containing ampicillin (final concentration, $100 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$) were inoculated with 20 ml of transformed cells that had been incubated overnight at 37°C, and were grown to an $OD_{600} \ge 0.5$. Expression of the 6xHIS-tagged proteins was induced by the addition of 150 μ M isopropyl- β , D-thiogalacto pyranoside (IPTG) for 3 h before harvesting the bacteria by centrifugation at 6 370 x g for 10 min at 4°C. Bacteria were resuspended in buffer A (final concentrations, 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 1 μ g/ml leupeptin, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin) (30 ml/L culture) and incubated on ice with 0.2 mg/ml lysozyme for 1 h. Twenty five µg/ml DNase and 0.5 mM MgCl₂ were added on ice for 30 min. After centrifugation (13 000 x g, 35 min, 4°C), the volume of supernatant was increased to 25 ml/L culture with buffer B (final concentrations, 50 mM Hepes, pH8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 20 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1 mM PMSF, 1 μg/ml leupeptin, 10 μg/ml aprotinin, 50% glycerol). Twenty mM imidazole and 50% Ni-NTA affinity resin (Qiagen) equilibrated in buffer B, were incubated with the supernatant (1.5 h, 4°C on a rocker). Later, the resin was loaded onto a 30 ml column and washed with 20 ml buffer C (final concentrations, 50 mM Hepes, pH8.0, 500 mM NaCl, 20 mM

2-mercaptoethanol, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1 mM PMSF, 1 μ g/ml leupeptin, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin, 20 mM imidazole) and 15 ml buffer D (final concentrations, 100 mM Hepes, pH8.0, 300 mM NaCl, 40 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.2 mM PMSF, 2 μ g/ml leupeptin, 20 μ g/ml aprotinin, 40 mM imidazole). The proteins were eluted with 650 μ l buffer E (final concentrations, 100 mM Hepes, pH8.0, 300 mM NaCl, 40 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.2 mM PMSF, 1 μ g/ml leupeptin, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin, 40 mM imidazole). The proteins were eluted with 650 μ l buffer E (final concentrations, 100 mM Hepes, pH8.0, 300 mM NaCl, 40 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.2 mM PMSF, 1 μ g/ml leupeptin, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin, 400 mM imidazole) after a 20 min incubation (protein purified to >95%). A maximum of three protein samples from the Ni-NTA column were loaded on and eluted from a Superdex 75 HR20/30 column (Pharmacia). Peak fractions were pooled, placed in aliquots and stored at -80°C.

For the purified Glutathione-S-Transferase (GST) and GST-fusion proteins, *E. coli* strain BL21/DE3 was transformed with pGEX-RGS or 14-3-3 constructs, induced with 200 μ M IPTG (4 h, 37°C). Cell were pelleted and resuspended in PBS (final concentrations, 140 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.8 mM KH₂PO₄, 0.2 mM PMSF, 1 μ g/ml leupeptin, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin, pH adjusted to 7.4). The pellets were then frozen at -80°C overnight. Samples were thawed and sonicated on ice (10 x 15 s bursts, allowing 5 s for cooling between bursts). Triton X-100 (final, 1%) was added (30 min on ice) and the insoluble material was removed by centrifugation at 8 500 *x g*, 10 min, 4°C. The supernatant was collected and incubated with a 50% slurry of glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads (equilibrated in PBS) for 30 min at room temperature, rotating end-over-end (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). After centrifugation (500 *x g*, 5 min, 4°C), the glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads were washed three times with PBS and proteins were

eluted with glutathione elution buffer (0.0154 g of reduced glutathione dissolved in 5 ml of 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH8.0).

All samples were visualized by 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) followed by staining with 0.1% Coomassie Blue. Protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assay (Bio-Rad Protein Assay) according to the manufacture's instructions.

2.2.3. Mammalian cell transfection

Human embryonic kidney (HEK)-293 cells were seeded onto 10 cm dishes (7x10⁵ cells/plate) the day before transfection and at 50-70% confluency, were transiently transfected with 10 μ g pcDNA HIS-tagged 14-3-3 (β and ϵ isoforms) or HA-tagged RGS constructs (RGS4, RGS5, RGS16), using the calcium phosphate precipitation. Briefly, 9 ml of complete Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) was added 2 h prior to precipitation. For each dish, 10 μ g pcDNA was diluted in 500 μ l H₂O containing CaCl₂ (final concentration, 0.25 M). A precipitate containing calcium phosphate and DNA was formed by slowly bubbling 500 μ l 2x HEPES-buffered saline solution (HeBS) (final concentrations, 0.28 M NaCl, 0.05 M HEPES, 1.5 mM Na₂HPO₄, H₂O) and adding the DNA/CaCl₂ solution dropwise. The precipitate was incubated for 20 min at room temperature before being distributed evenly over the 10 cm dish. The cells were incubated with the precipitate for 5 h under standard growth conditions (37°C, 5% CO₂) and later, were washed twice with 5 ml PBS and stored in 10 ml of complete MEM.

Twenty to forty eight hours after transfection, the attached cells were rinsed twice with PBS, trypsinized with Trypsin-EDTA (Gibco), collected by centrifugation (514 x g, 5 min, 4°C), resuspended in buffer F (final concentrations, 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH7.6, 1 mM EDTA, pH8.0, 0.4 M NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 0.5 mM NaF, 0.2 mM Na₃VO₄, 0.2 mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml leupeptin, 10 µg/ml aprotinin). The samples were sonicated (3 X 5 s), subjected to centrifugation (20 800 x g, 5 min, 4°C) and the supernatants were transferred to new microfuge tubes. Five hundred µl of supernatant was incubated with 50 µl of a 50% slurry of glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads (equilibrated in buffer F) for 1 h (pre-clearing step) and later subjected to centrifugation (500 x g for 5 min at 4°C) and transferred into fresh tubes. Cell lysates were incubated with 10 µg of GST or GST-fusion proteins of RGS4, RGS5, RGS16, 14-3-3β or 14-3-3ε for 4 h (incubations for shorter time periods were found to yield inconsistent results), followed by an overnight incubation with 30 µl of equilibrated 50% slurry of glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads at 4°C, with gentle rotation. Cell lysates were then subjected to centrifugation (500 x g for 5 min at 4°C) and the glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads were washed by resuspension and centrifugation three times in 1 ml buffer G (final concentrations, 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH7.6, 1 mM EDTA, 0.4 M NaCl, 0.1% Triton X-100, 0.5 mM NaF, 0.2 mM Na₃VO₄, 0.2 mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml leupeptin, 10 µg/ml aprotinin). The proteins were released from the glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads by heating at 99°C for 5 min, and 25 µl of loading buffer was added (60 mM Tris-HCl, pH6.8, 24% glycerol, 2% SDS, 20 mg bromophenol blue, 2-mercaptoethanol) for immunoblot analysis. For
negative controls, each lysate was incubated with purified GST protein and glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads as appropriate to determine non-specific binding. To verify protein expression, 4% of cell lysate taken prior to the pull-down experiment was assessed by Western blot analysis.

2.2.5. Pull-down experiments with purified proteins

For the purified protein pull-down experiments, HIS-14-3-3E or HIS-14-3-3B proteins [0.1 µM or 0.5 µM final concentrations] were diluted in 500 µl buffer G to which 5 µg of GST [0.4 µM] or GST-RGS4, GST-RGS5 or GST-RGS16 [0.2 µM] had been added. To activate Ga proteins, the latter were pre-incubated for 1 h in the presence of AMF (final concentrations, 10 mM NaF, 10 mM MgCl₂ and 20 µM AlCl₃) in buffer F and later, GSTtagged proteins were added as described above. For G protein pull-down experiments (Figure 2.10), HIS-Gao or HIS-Gail proteins [0.2 µM] in the presence or absence of AMF, were combined with purified GST [0.4 μM] or GST-RGS5, GST-14-3-3β or GST-14-3-3 [0.2 µM] in 500 µl buffer F. For protein loading controls, 1 µg of Gai1 and 0.1 μg of Gao were diluted in H₂O and loading buffer. For competitive pull-down experiments, GST-RGS4 and GST-RGS5 [0.2 µM] were incubated with AMF-activated HIS-Gao proteins $[0.01 \,\mu\text{M}]$ or HIS-14-3-3 ϵ $[0.5 \,\mu\text{M}]$ or both in 500 μ l buffer F. For protein loading controls, 0.1 µg of Gao, 1 µg of RGS, and 0.01 µg of 14-3-3 proteins were all assessed by Western blot analysis. For negative controls, samples were incubated with purified GST protein and glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads as appropriate to determine non-specific binding.

After proteins were combined, the solutions were incubated for 4 h and subsequently, 30 μ l of a 50% slurry of glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads (equilibrated in either buffer F or G) was added into each tube overnight (4°C), with gentle rotation. The glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads were pelleted by centrifugation (500 *x g*, 5 min, 4°C) and washed by resuspension and centrifugation three times with 1 ml buffer G. The proteins were released from the glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads by heating (99°C for 5 min) and 25 μ l of loading buffer was added for Western blot analysis.

2.2.6. Immunoblot Analysis

Samples were resolved on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel and transferred onto a Polyvinylidene Fluoride Transfer (PVDF) membrane (Pall Corporation), followed by an incubation in blocking buffer for 1 h (Tris buffered-saline (TBST) with 5% nonfat milk, 0.1% Tween-20 final concentrations). To visualize protein-protein interactions, membranes were probed with rabbit anti-HIS (diluted 1:1000) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or mouse anti-HA (diluted 1:2000) (12CA5, Roche) primary antibodies overnight at 4°C in blocking buffer. Membranes were washed three times with TBST and probed with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated IgG anti-rabbit or anti-mouse secondary antibody (diluted 1:2000) (Promega). The immunoblots were visualized by chemiluminescence using a digital camera (FluorChem 8000 Advanced Chemiluminescence and Visible Light Imaging, AlphaEaseFC software, Alpha Innotech Corporation). Subsequently, to visualize the GST-fusion proteins eluted from the glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads, membranes were stripped at 53°C for 30 min (final concentrations, 62.5 mM Tris-HCl, pH6.8, 2% SDS, 100 mM 2-mercaptoethanol), and reprobed with rabbit anti-GST (diluted 1:2000) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) primary antibody. Following this, membranes were washed three times with TBST and probed with HRP-conjugated IgG anti-rabbit secondary antibody (diluted 1:2000). The immunoblots were visualized as described above. In some experiments, a band corresponding to free GST was observed with purified GST-fusion proteins; this suggests that a fraction of these proteins was cleaved and implies that in some cases the concentrations of GST-fusion proteins may have been lower than the calculated values based on mass.

2.2.7. Densitometry

Densitometry of unsaturated immunoblot images was carried out using the AlphaEaseFC software (FluorChem 8000 Advanced Chemiluminescence and Visible Light Imaging, Alpha Innotech Corporation). Statistical differences in protein binding were determined by a one-tailed unpaired Student's *t* test for all cell lysate and purified protein pull-down experiments, with exception of the competitive pull-down experiment, where a two-tailed unpaired Student's *t* test was used. Values of p < 0.05 were considered significant.

2.2.8. Receptor and G protein expression in Sf9 cells and membrane preparation

Sf9 insect cells were multiply infected for 48 h with baculoviruses encoding N-terminal c-myc-tagged M₂ muscarinic receptor, G α o, G β 1 and G γ 2, and membranes from these cells were prepared as described in Cladman and Chidiac (2002).

The *in vitro* steady-state hydrolysis of $[\gamma^{32}P]$ GTP by agonist stimulated G proteins in Sf9 membranes was measured in the presence or absence of RGS and/or 14-3-3 proteins. Each reaction tube consisted of a 50 µl mixture, containing 40 mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 2 mM EDTA, 4 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM DTT, 0.1 mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml leupeptin, 10 µg/ml aprotinin and was incubated at 30°C for 5 min with 1 μ M GTP, 500 μ M ATP, [γ^{32} P]GTP (1x10⁶ cpm/assay), either 100 µM carbachol (agonist) or 10 µM tropicamide (inverseagonist), and membranes (5 µg/assay) (Cladman and Chidiac, 2002). The assay was stopped by adding 950 µl of ice-cold 5% (w/v) Norit in 0.05 M NaH₂PO₄. The mixture was subjected to centrifugation and the amount of ${}^{32}P_{i}$ in the supernatant was determined by liquid-scintillation counting. The nonspecific membrane GTPase signal was estimated by adding 1 mM unlabeled GTP to one set of reaction tubes and this value was subtracted from the total counts per minute (CPM). In each experiment, separate controls were added to identify the GTPase activity attributed to trace contaminants in the protein preparations; these included samples lacking membranes. Agonist-dependent GTPase activity was determined by subtracting the signal observed in the presence of tropicamide from that observed with carbachol.

All data are expressed as means \pm S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined with one-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's or a Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test. Values of *p* <0.05 were considered significant. In this study, we examined the protein-protein interactions between 14-3-3 proteins and RGS proteins belonging to the B/R4 subfamily. To that end, we transiently transfected HEK293 cells with HIS-14-3-3 ϵ or HIS-14-3-3 β and examined their binding to purified GST-RGS4, GST-RGS5 or GST-RGS16 in pull-down experiments using cell lysates. As demonstrated in Figures 2.1 and 2.2, we found that both cytosolic 14-3-3 β and 14-3-3 ϵ readily interacted with all three purified RGS proteins (data summarized in Table 2.1).

2.3.2. Purified 14-3-3 proteins bind to RGS proteins expressed in HEK293 cells

To further establish the binding of 14-3-3 and RGS proteins observed in Figures 2.1 and 2.2, we carried out a similar cell lysate pull-down experiment to that described above, whereby we investigated the interaction between transiently transfected HA-RGS proteins and purified GST-fusion proteins of both 14-3-3 isoforms. As expected, 14-3-3 β and 14-3-3 ϵ proteins consistently bound to cytosolic RGS5 (Figure 2.3). However, the interaction between 14-3-3 proteins and cytosolic RGS4 and RGS16 could not be verified using this approach because both of these RGS proteins were prone to binding non-specifically to GST protein and/or glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. Taken together, the results in Figures 2.1-2.3 indicate that members of the B/R4 subfamily of RGS proteins are able to

interact with 14-3-3 when either is expressed inside the cell, implying that RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16 might interact with 14-3-3 *in vivo*.

2.3.3. Purified RGS proteins bind to purified 14-3-3 proteins

We next examined whether the interaction observed between RGS and 14-3-3 proteins in HEK293 cell lysate pull-down experiments was direct, and not dependent on additional proteins or other unknown intracellular factors. To address this question, a pull-down experiment using glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads was carried out with the addition of bacterially expressed, purified GST-RGS and HIS-14-3-3 proteins. Under these conditions, any observed protein-protein interactions presumably would be independent of post-translational modifications that may occur within mammalian cells. An example of these experiments is shown in Figures 2.4 and 2.5 (data summarized in Table 2.2), where RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16 were found to directly bind to both 14-3-3 (2.4.A) and 14-3-3ß (2.5.A, 2.5.B) in the absence of any other proteins or factors. Moreover, these RGS proteins interacted with 14-3-3 in a concentration-dependent manner, as demonstrated in Figures 2.6 and 2.7. The two 14-3-3 isoforms bound similarly to all three RGS proteins tested (Table 2.2), however these RGS proteins appeared to have greater affinity for 14-3-3 ϵ than for 14-3-3 β . This was consistent between 2 separate batches of purified 14-3-3 β and 3 separate batches of purified 14-3-3 ϵ proteins and thus probably does not reflect differences in the quality or activity of the purified proteins. Overall, the binding data clearly indicate that indeed 14-3-3 proteins bind directly to RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16 in the absence of any other proteins or factors.



Figure 2.1. 14-3-3 ε in cytosolic extracts interacts with purified RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16. Western blot analysis of a pull-down experiment using lysates of HEK293 cells expressing His-14-3-3 ε or mock-transfected control. Cell lysates were incubated with GST (N=5) [0.8 μ M] or GST-RGS4 (N=3), GST-RGS5 (N=4) or GST-RGS16 (N=5) [0.4 μ M] for 4 h, followed by an overnight incubation with a slurry of glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads at 4°C. The eluted samples were resolved on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel. The blot was probed with anti-HIS antibody (A), after which the membrane was stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (B). The immunoblots were visualized by chemiluminescence (data summarized in Table 2.1).



Figure 2.2 14-3-3 β in cytosolic extracts interacts with purified RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16. Western blot analysis of a pull-down experiment using lysates of HEK293 cells expressing His-tagged 14-3-3 β or mock-transfected control. Cell lysates were incubated with GST (N=4) [0.8 μ M] or GST-RGS4 (N=3), GST-RGS5 (N=4) or GST-RGS16 (N=4) [0.4 μ M] for 4 h, followed by an overnight incubation with a slurry of glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads at 4°C. The eluted samples were resolved on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel. The blot was probed with anti-HIS antibody (A), after which the membrane was stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (B). The immunoblots were visualized by chemiluminescence (data summarized in Table 2.1).

Table 2.1. *14-3-3 in cytosolic extracts interacts with purified RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16.* Densitometry of immunoblots was carried out to determine binding of transiently transfected HIS-14-3-3 proteins with purified GST-RGS4, GST-RGS5 and GST-RGS16. Binding data correspond to Figures 2.1 and 2.2 plus replicate experiments, and are expressed as signal relative to GST control for each cell lysate (means \pm S.E.M.). Statistical significance was assessed by the use of an unpaired one-tailed Student's *t* test (* indicate statistically significant binding of 14-3-3 to GST-RGS, compared to GST control).

RGS Protein	HIS-14-3-3ε Lysate [GST-RGS/GST ± S.E.M. (P, N)]	HIS-14-3-3β Lysate [GST-RGS/GST ± S.E.M. (P, N)]	
GST-RGS4	18.1 ± 3.9 (0.0005, 3)*	$6.9 \pm 6.0 \ (0.17, 3)$	
GST-RGS5	$10.2 \pm 1.7 (0.03, 4)^*$	$3.4 \pm 2.2 \ (0.40, 4)$	
GST-RGS16	4.7 ± 2.3 (0.10, 5)	$3.1 \pm 1.7 (0.19, 4)$	

Binding of Intracellular 14-3-3 Proteins to Purified RGS Proteins



С

Figure 2.3. *RGS5 in cytosolic extracts binds to purified 14-3-3 proteins.* HEK293 cells were transfected with the cDNA for HA-RGS5 or no cDNA plasmid (control lysate). The cells were lysed and incubated with GST [0.8 μ M] or GST-14-3-3 β or GST-14-3-3 ϵ [0.36 μ M] (N=4). Cell extracts were subjected to a pull-down experiment with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. The blot was probed with anti-HA antibody (A), after which the membrane was stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (B). Table (C), densitometry of immunoblots was carried out to determine total 14-3-3 binding to RGS5 expressed in HEK293 cell lysates. The data (signal relative to GST control, mean ± S.E.M.) were obtained from 4 independent experiments. Statistical significance was assessed by the use of an unpaired one-tailed Student's *t* test. * indicates statistically significant binding of GST-14-3-3 to intracellular RGS5, compared to control lysate from mock transfected cells (*p* <0.05).





Figure 2.4. Direct interaction between RGS proteins and 14-3-3 ε . Western blot analysis of protein binding experiment between GST (N=5) [0.4 μ M] or GST-RGS4 (N=5), GST-RGS5 (N=3) or GST-RGS16 (N=3) [0.2 μ M], and HIS-14-3-3 ε [0.5 μ M]. Proteins were incubated with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. The blot was probed with anti-HIS antibody to detect the 14-3-3 proteins (A), after which the membrane was stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (B) (data summarized in Table 2.2). All lanes shown are taken from a single membrane (probed once with anti-HIS and once with anti-GST).



Figure 2.5. Direct interaction between RGS proteins and 14-3-3 β . Western blot analysis of protein binding experiments between GST [0.4 μ M] or GST-RGS4, GST-RGS5 or GST-RGS16 [0.2 μ M], and HIS-14-3-3 β [0.5 μ M]. Proteins were incubated with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. The blots were probed with anti-HIS antibody to detect the 14-3-3 proteins (A, B), after which membranes were stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (C, D). These results are representative of 3 independent experiments (data summarized in Table 2.2). All lanes shown in panel A (and C) and in panel B (and D) were taken from a single membrane, respectively (each probed once with anti-HIS and once with anti-GST).

Table 2.2. Direct interaction between RGS proteins and 14-3-3. Densitometry of Immunoblot analysiss was carried out to determine binding of HIS-14-3-3 β and HIS-14-3-3 ϵ with GST-RGS4, GST-RGS5 and GST-RGS16. 14-3-3 binding to GST-RGS proteins is expressed as signal relative to GST control (means ± S.E.M.). Statistical significance was assessed by the use of an unpaired one-tailed Student's *t* test. * indicates statistically significant binding of 14-3-3 to GST-RGS, compared to GST control (*p* <0.05).

RGS ProteinHIS-14-3-3 ϵ
[GST-RGS/GST ± S.E.M (P, N)]HIS-14-3-3 β
[GST-RGS/GST ± S.E.M (P, N)]GST-RGS410.0 ± 4.4 (0.09, N=5)2.5 ± 0.9 (0.18, N=3)GST-RGS524.7 ± 18.3 (0.08, N=3)5.3 ± 2.5 (0.03, N=3)*GST-RGS1630.5 ± 22.4 (0.11, N=3)5.0 ± 1.1 (0.07, N=3)

Binding of Purified	14-3-3 Protein	s to Purified	RGS Proteins
----------------------------	----------------	---------------	--------------



Figure 2.6. *RGS proteins bind to 14-3-3ɛ in a concentration-dependent manner.* Western blot analysis of protein binding experiments between GST (N=3) [0.4 μ M] or GST-RGS4 (N=3), GST-RGS5 (N=2) or GST-RGS16 (N=2) [0.2 μ M], and HIS-14-3-3ɛ at two different concentrations [0.1 μ M, 0.5 μ M]. The proteins were incubated with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. The blots were probed with anti-HIS antibody (A, B), after which membranes were stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (C, D). All lanes shown in panel A (and C) and in panel B (and D) were taken from a single membrane, respectively (each probed once with anti-HIS and once with anti-GST).



Figure 2.7. *RGS proteins bind to 14-3-3β in a concentration-dependent manner.* Immunoblot analysiss of protein binding experiments between GST [0.4 μ M] or GST-RGS4, GST-RGS5 or GST-RGS16 [0.2 μ M], and HIS-14-3-3β at two different concentrations [0.1 μ M, 0.5 μ M]. The proteins were incubated with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. The blots were probed with anti-HIS antibody (A, B), after which membranes were stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (C, D). These results are representative of 3 independent experiments. All lanes shown in panel A (and C) and in panel B (and D) were taken from a single membrane, respectively (each probed once with anti-HIS anti-HIS and once with anti-GST).

Since 14-3-3 and RGS proteins bind to each other, it is possible that 14-3-3 might interfere with the GAP effects of the RGS proteins on their target G proteins. We therefore investigated whether such a regulatory mechanism might exist, using an in vitro assay in which RGS proteins promote receptor-dependent, steady state GTP hydrolysis using membranes derived from Sf9 insect cells expressing M₂ muscarinic receptor plus Gao, GB1 and Gy2 proteins. RGS GAP activities were determined from the hydrolysis of $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ GTP in the presence of the muscarinic agonist carbachol. Tropicamide, an inverseagonist, inhibits the intrinsic activity of the GPCR in the absence of agonist and was used in the assay to identify the receptor-dependent signal. 14-3-3 alone had no apparent effect on the G protein GTPase activity in the absence of RGS protein (Figure 2.8). The GAP activity of both RGS4 and RGS16 was significantly inhibited, in a concentrationdependent manner by both 14-3-3 isoforms. This inhibition was more pronounced with 14-3-3β than with 14-3-3ε. Surprisingly, 14-3-3 had little or no effect on RGS5 GAP activity (Figure 2.9) not withstanding the observed binding of RGS5 to 14-3-3. Moreover, 14-3-3 concentrations as high as 4 µM still failed to significantly inhibit the activity of RGS5 (data not shown). These results indicate that RGS proteins can be negatively regulated by 14-3-3, as seen with RGS4 and RGS16. In the case of RGS5, one possible explanation for the lack of statistically significant inhibition by 14-3-3 proteins is that the affinity of RGS5 for 14-3-3 is low relative to its affinity for G proteins.



Figure 2.8. 14-3-3 has no effect on the Gao protein-coupled M_2 cholinergic receptor signalling pathway in the absence of RGS proteins. In vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assay with Gao protein-coupled M_2 cholinergic receptors, stimulated with carbachol [100 μ M]. (A) 14-3-3 ϵ (N=5) or (B) 14-3-3 β (N=8) were used in the assay at two final concentrations [1 μ M, 2 μ M]. Each condition was performed in triplicate and data represent means ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was assessed by the use of a one-way ANOVA, followed by a Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test. *, p < 0.05.

Figure 2.9. *14-3-3 inhibits the GAP activity of RGS proteins. In vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assay with G α o protein-coupled M₂ cholinergic receptors, stimulated with carbachol [100 μ M]. The GAP activity of several RGS proteins was measured in the absence or presence of 14-3-3 ϵ and 14-3-3 β [1 μ M, 2 μ M]. (A) RGS4/14-3-3 ϵ (N=6) and RGS4/14-3-3 β (N=4); (B) RGS5/14-3-3 ϵ (N=6) and RGS5/14-3-3 β (N=6); (C) RGS16/14-3-3 ϵ (N=6) and RGS16/14-3-3 β (N=7). Each condition was performed in triplicate and data represent means ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was assessed by the use of a one-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test to determine 14-3-3 inhibition on RGS GAP activity. *, *p* <0.05; ***, *p* <0.001 compared to RGS alone.





14-3-3ε





.







RGS4

14-3-3β











14-3-3β



The foregoing results suggest a mechanism wherein 14-3-3 sequesters RGS proteins, thereby preventing their GAP effects on G proteins. Thus, we investigated whether 14-3-3 could decrease RGS binding to G proteins. To address this question, we first assessed the abilities of RGS4 and RGS5 to bind to G proteins, and also investigated the possibility that 14-3-3 itself might associate with G proteins. Using a purified protein pull-down experiment, we looked at the binding of G proteins (Gao and Gai1) in the absence or presence of AMF (AlCl₃, MgCl₂ and NaF) to GST-RGS5, GST-14-3-3 β or GST-14-3-3 ϵ . AMF induces a conformation (G α –GDP-AlF⁻₄) thought to mimic the transition state of the G α subunit bound to the gamma phosphate of GTP, i.e. activated G α protein (Tesmer *et al.*, 1997). These effects have long been established with RGS4 (Berman *et al.*, 1996) and RGS16 (Chen and Lin, 1998).

The present data clearly show that RGS5 proteins have a much higher affinity for the GDP-AlF⁴ activated form of G α proteins (Figure 2.10), and complement a study carried out by Zhou *et al.* (2001), demonstrating that several endogenously expressed G proteins bind more strongly to purified RGS5 after HEK293 cell lysates have been treated with AMF. Furthermore, this is consistent with observations made with other RGS proteins (i.e. RGS4) and supports the established dogma that RGS proteins bind directly to G α and facilitate the hydrolysis reaction by stabilizing the G α protein transition state, and thereby enhancing the rate of inactivation (Watson *et al.*, 1996). Conversely, we were unable to detect any binding of 14-3-3 proteins to either form of G α o and G α i1 proteins (Figure 2.10). This observation strengthens our model that 14-3-3 acts directly on RGS

proteins and it is likely that the inhibitory effect seen in the *in vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assay is the result of a direct interaction between 14-3-3 and RGS proteins.

Since RGS proteins bind to both AMF-activated G α and 14-3-3 proteins, we next studied in more detail the effect of 14-3-3 proteins on the binding of RGS to G α . In a competitive pull-down experiment using glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads, GST-RGS4 and GST-RGS5 were combined with HIS-G α o, HIS-14-3-3 ϵ , or both. We used 14-3-3 ϵ rather than 14-3-3 β because in our hands the former seems to bind more reliably to all the RGS proteins (especially RGS4) under these experimental conditions (Figures 2.4-2.7). As demonstrated in Figure 2.11, 14-3-3 ϵ appeared to compete with G α o for the binding of RGS4, but not with the binding of RGS5 to G α o. These data are consistent with the *in vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assay, where 14-3-3 ϵ significantly inhibited the GAP activity of RGS4 and had no apparent affect on RGS5 (Figure 2.9). Thus, the present results imply that 14-3-3 might indeed be selective for certain RGS proteins. More importantly, at least in the case of RGS4, 14-3-3 ϵ may act as a molecular chelator by impeding the interaction between RGS and G α o within the signal transduction pathway.



Figure 2.10. *RGS5, but not 14-3-3, binds to activated Gao and Gail proteins.* Western blot analysis of protein binding experiments between HIS-Gai1 (A, C, E, F) or HIS-Gao (B, D, E, F) [0.25 μ M] proteins, and GST [0.4 μ M] or GST-RGS5 [0.22 μ M] or GST-14-3-3 [0.2 μ M] in the absence and presence of AMF (MgCl, NaF, AlCl₃). All proteins were incubated with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. The blots were probed with anti-HIS antibody (A, B, E), after which membranes were stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (C, D, F). Data represent one of three independent experiments.

80

,

Figure 2.11. *14-3-3* ε competes with activated G αo for RGS4, but not RGS5. Western blot analysis of binding between GST or GST-RGS4 (A, C) or GST-RGS5 (B, D) [0.2 μ M] to activated HIS-G αo [0.01 μ M] (i.e. in the presence of AMF) and/or HIS-14-3-3 ε [0.5 μ M]. The pull-down was carried out with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads. Purified GST with activated HIS-G αo plus HIS-14-3-3 ε was used as a negative control (Lane 1 in panel A and lane 4 in panel B). The blots were probed with anti-HIS antibody (A, B), after which membranes were stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (C, D). Densitometry of Western blots was carried out to determine G αo binding to either RGS4 (N=3) (E) or RGS5 (N=3) (F) in the absence and presence of 14-3-3 ε . The data represent the average ratio between G protein pulled-down in the presence versus absence of 14-3-3 proteins. Statistical significance was assessed by the use of an unpaired two-tailed Student's *t* test. ******, *p* <0.01.











2.3.6. 14-3-3 proteins do not distinguish between leucine and tyrosine residues within the SxP motif of the RGS domain

There exists some controversy regarding whether the SYP motif within the RGS domain is essential for 14-3-3 binding, as has been claimed in previous reports (Benzing et al., 2000; Benzing et al., 2002). Indeed, one potential explanation for the absence of 14-3-3 inhibition on RGS5 GAP activity, seen in the in vitro GTP hydrolysis assay in this study, could be that RGS16 possesses this conserved motif while RGS5 has a unique point substitution where leucine 167 takes the place of tyrosine. Using site-directed mutagenesis, we constructed mutant RGS5 L167Y and RGS16 Y167L proteins to examine whether this substitution of leucine for tyrosine within the conserved SYP motif accounts for the lack of inhibition of RGS5 GAP activity by 14-3-3. In the in vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assay, RGS5 L167Y and RGS16 Y167L proteins both retained full or nearly full activities and exhibited similar potencies relative to their wild-type counterparts (comparable Km values) (Figure 2.12). The slope factor (Hill coefficient) was nearly 2 for all proteins which suggests the possibility that two or more RGS proteins interact simultaneously and in a positively cooperative manner with multiple G proteins, forming an oligomeric signalling complex (Chidiac, 1998). The tyrosine/leucine substitution within the SxP motif of RGS5 failed to render this RGS protein sensitive to the inhibitory effects of either 14-3-3 β or 14-3-3 ϵ , and correspondingly, the substitution of leucine for tyrosine did not appear to cause RGS16 to become insensitive to inhibition by 14-3-3 (Figures 2.13 and 2.14). Thus, the tyrosine/leucine substitution within the SxP motif is not accountable for the functional difference observed between RGS5 and RGS16 in the presence of 14-3-3 under these experimental conditions.



Figure 2.12. *RGS5 L167Y and RGS16 Y167L mutants have similar GAP activity to wildtype RGS proteins. In vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assay with G α o protein-coupled M₂ cholinergic receptors, stimulated with carbachol [100 μ M]. RGS dose-response curves comparing the GAP activity of RGS5 and RGS5 L167Y (N=2) (A), and RGS16 and RGS16 Y167L (N=3) (B). Each condition was performed in triplicate and data points shown represent means ± S.E.M. (C), the averaged data were fitted by non-linear regression to a single sigmoidal function with a variable slope factor (GraphPad Prism), and the numbers indicated in the table represent the fitted parameters for each set of averaged data. The errors shown were generated during the fitting procedure and provide an estimate of the uncertainty of the fitted parameters.



Figure 2.13. Leucine and tyrosine residues within the SxP motif do not dictate 14-3-3 ε inhibition on RGS GAP activity. In vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assay with G α o protein-coupled M₂ cholinergic receptors, stimulated with carbachol [100 μ M]. The GAP activities of wild-type and mutant RGS5 and RGS16 proteins were measured in the absence and presence of 14-3-3 ε [1 μ M, 2 μ M]. (A) RGS5 (N=3); (B) RGS5 L167Y (N=3); (C) RGS16 (N=4); (D) RGS16 Y167L (N=4). Each condition was performed in triplicate and data represent means ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was assessed by the use of a one-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test to determine 14-3-3 inhibition on RGS GAP activity. ***, *p* <0.001 compared to RGS alone.



Figure 2.14. Leucine and tyrosine residues within the SxP motif do not dictate 14-3-3 β inhibition on RGS GAP activity. In vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assay with G α o protein-coupled M₂ cholinergic receptors, stimulated with carbachol [100 μ M]. The GAP activities of wild-type and mutant RGS5 and RGS16 proteins were measured in the absence and presence of 14-3-3 β [1 μ M, 2 μ M]. (A) RGS5 (N=3); (B) RGS5 L167Y (N=3); (C) RGS16 (N=3); (D) RGS16 Y167L (N=3). Each condition was performed in triplicate and data represent means ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was assessed by the use of a one-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test to determine 14-3-3 inhibition on RGS GAP activity. ***, *p* <0.001 compared to RGS alone.

In the present study, we have identified protein-protein interactions between RGS proteins of the B/R4 subfamily (RGS4, RGS5, RGS16) and two 14-3-3 isoforms, 14-3-3β and 14-3-3 (Figures 2.1-2.3, Table 2.1). Our results indicate that 14-3-3 directly binds to these particular RGS proteins, and other factors such as Ga proteins, are not required for the RGS-14-3-3 interaction to take place (Figures 2.4-2.7, Table 2.2). Data from the in vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assay (Figure 2.8) show that 14-3-3 proteins inhibit the GTPase activity of RGS4 and RGS16, but have no apparent effect on RGS5 activity. Moreover, in a competitive pull-down experiment (Figure 2.11), 14-3-3 proteins compete with Gao for RGS4, but not for RGS5, implying that 14-3-3 might prevent RGS proteins from interacting with Ga and through this mechanism, act as modulators of RGS function to prolong intracellular signalling. We also examined the role of the putative SYP 14-3-3 binding motif and found that tyrosine 167 of RGS16 does not account for the observed RGS inhibition by 14-3-3. Furthermore, RGS5, in the presence of the SYP motif, still remains unaffected by 14-3-3 in the in vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assay (Figures 2.13-2.14). As discussed in previous chapters, RGS proteins are potent modulators of GPCR signalling and as such, several of these proteins are known to be tightly regulated in vivo. For example, the availability of RGS proteins at the plasma membrane could be limited by their sequestration into other intracellular compartments (Burgon et al., 2001).

Here, our combined observations suggest a mechanism wherein 14-3-3 proteins negatively modulate RGS function and act as molecular chelators that sequester RGS proteins away from both the G protein and the plasma membrane. Thus, we conclude that 14-3-3 proteins indirectly promote GPCR signalling via their inhibitory effects on RGS proteins.

The rationale for the present study was based on an observation made in a yeast 2-hybrid screen in our laboratory of a mouse brain cDNA library, in which 14-3-3ε was identified as a putative RGS4-interacting protein. The present results confirm that this interaction exists at the protein-protein level and our study is the first to report that RGS4 interacts with both 14-3-3 β and 14-3-3 ϵ proteins. However, these findings disagree with studies carried out by Benzing et al. (2000 and 2002) who failed to demonstrate coimmunoprecipitation of RGS4 with 14-3-3ß in HEK293 cell lysates. It is possible that their particular experimental conditions were not sufficiently sensitive to detect a protein interaction with RGS4 compared to RGS7, and/or 14-3-3 isoforms might exhibit selectivity towards different RGS proteins. Based on immunoblot densitometry of both HEK293 cell lysate (Table 2.1) and purified protein pull-down experiments (Table 2.2), it appears that RGS proteins bind more strongly to $14-3-3\varepsilon$ than $14-3-3\beta$. These data support the suggestion that mammalian 14-3-3 isoforms differ slightly from one another in terms of their differential subcellular localization and expression, and their specificity towards different protein binding partners (Tzivion and Avruch, 2002; van Hemert et al., 2004).

Previous reports have examined interactions between several other RGS and 14-3-3 proteins, further supporting that 14-3-3 proteins negatively modulate RGS function in

signal transduction. A study carried out by Benzing et al. (2000) demonstrated that 14-3-37 was able to abolish the inhibitory effect of RGS3 on the carbachol-mediated MAP kinase activation in HEK293 cells. Subsequently, Schreiber et al. (2001) observed that 14-3-3t suppressed the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) by antagonizing the inhibitory effects of RGS3 on Gai2. Finally, the fast RGS7-mediated deactivation kinetics of G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels (GIRKs) were slowed by the 14-3-3 τ isoform (Benzing *et al.*, 2002). The foregoing effects of 14-3-3 on G protein-mediated signalling suggest a mechanism wherein 14-3-3 binds to RGS proteins and thereby limits their abilities to act as GTPase activating proteins (GAPs). Previously, inhibition of RGS GAP activity by 14-3-3 proteins has been demonstrated in a single turnover GTP hydrolysis assay, whereby in vitro phosphorylation of RGS7 by PKCa promoted the inhibition of GAP activity in the presence of 14-3-3 proteins (Benzing et al., 2000). In contrast, Ward and Milligan (2005) were unable to detect inhibition of RGS16 GAP activity by 14-3-3 proteins in a steady state GTP hydrolysis assay using membranes from HEK293 cells expressing an a2A-adrenergic receptor-Gao1 fusion protein, despite the fact that the authors showed an unmistakable protein interaction between RGS16 and 14-3-3 τ proteins. In contrast to these findings that call into question the ability of 14-3-3 to inhibit RGS GAP effects on GPCR-activated G proteins, our data show that 14-3-3 proteins were able to inhibit the GAP activity of RGS4 and RGS16 in a concentration-dependent manner.

It is uncertain why only we were able to observe inhibition by 14-3-3 of RGS GAP effects in steady state GTP hydrolysis assays, but it seems likely that the discrepancy can

be attributed to differences in the model systems used. The study by Ward and Milligan (2005) employed GPCR-G protein fusion proteins where coupling efficiency is increased relative to that of free receptor and G protein (Bertin *et al.*, 1994; Seifert *et al.*, 1998). This stands in contrast to the model system used in our study, where the receptor and the G protein are not covalently linked to one another. Since GPCRs may promote RGS protein binding to G proteins (Chidiac and Roy 2003, Bernstein et al 2004, Hague et al 2005), it is possible that RGS protein affinity for the GPCR-G protein fusion protein may be greater than that for the free G protein, which could in turn decrease the ability of 14-3-3 to inhibit RGS activity. Furthermore, 14-3-3 has previously been shown to bind to the third intracellular loop of several α 2-adrenergic receptor isoforms (Prezeau *et al.*, 1999), and consequently, the α 2-adrenergic receptor may compete with the RGS protein for 14-3-3, thereby decreasing the availability of 14-3-3 to bind to the RGS protein. Thus, there are several factors that may have limited the inhibition of RGS7 and RGS16 GAP activities by 14-3-3 proteins in the study by Ward and Milligan (2005).

It has been postulated that RGS proteins can either be bound to activated G proteins or 14-3-3 proteins *in vivo*, and depending on the intracellular environment, the RGS protein can exchange binding partners. Consistent with this idea, Benzing *et al.* (2002) demonstrated that a significant fraction of endogenous RGS7 is complexed with endogenous 14-3-3 in the mouse brain. Moreover, RGS3 has been shown to bind either 14-3-3 or activated G protein in CHO cells and once RGS3 is bound to 14-3-3, it apparently loses its ability to interact with Gq (Niu *et al.*, 2002). In our study, we have shown that 14-3-3 proteins bind to several RGS proteins and this supports the idea that

14-3-3 and G proteins may compete for RGS proteins intracellularily. Indeed, we have demonstrated that 14-3-3 ϵ inhibits the binding of Gao to RGS4, but not to RGS5 (Figure 2.11). An analogous result was seen in the *in vitro* GTP hydrolysis assay, where 14-3-3 inhibited RGS4 and RGS16, but not RGS5 (Figure 2.9), despite readily binding to all three RGS proteins in pull-down assays. Hence, the ability of 14-3-3 to inhibit RGS GAP activity would presumably depend on the concentration of the proteins involved and on the relative affinities of 14-3-3 and of the G protein for the RGS protein. These data reveal that 14-3-3 can act as a molecular chelator, preventing RGS proteins from interacting with Ga, which may ultimately prolong the activation of the signal transduction pathway in intact cells. Furthermore, there appears to be selectivity regarding the effects of 14-3-3 on RGS proteins, where RGS-14-3-3 binding does not necessarily imply inhibition of RGS GAP activity. In the case of RGS5, one possible explanation for the absence of 14-3-3 inhibition is that the affinity of RGS5 for 14-3-3 is low relative to its affinity for Ga proteins.

Another factor that may play a role in the ability of 14-3-3 to distinguish between different RGS proteins is phosphorylation. 14-3-3 proteins are primarily known to bind to phosphorylated target proteins, however there appears to be a controversy regarding the necessity of RGS phosphorylation and its mediating role within the RGS-14-3-3 interaction. Previous studies have shown some evidence suggesting that phosphorylation of the RGS protein may be required for 14-3-3 binding. A pull-down experiment carried out in CHO cells showed an interaction between 14-3-3 and RGS3, in which the authors postulated that RGS3 was phosphorylated in the basal state and speculated that the binding of 14-3-3 to phosphorylated RGS3 prevented its dephosphorylation (Niu et al., 2002). A similar result was shown with RGS3 and RGS7, where 14-3-3 binding to RGS proteins was significantly reduced after HEK293 cells were treated with staurosporine, TNF- α or alkaline phosphatase, all agents that have the potential to reduce overall RGS phosphorylation (Benzing et al., 2000; Benzing et al., 2002). Previous observations, notwithstanding the present findings, imply that phosphorylation of RGS proteins is not compulsory for 14-3-3 binding, as 14-3-3 proteins are able to readily interact with nonphosphorylated RGS targets. Since the RGS proteins used in the pull-down experiments were expressed and purified from a prokaryotic system, and thus are presumably not phosphorylated (verified for RGS4 by mass spectrometry analysis, data not shown), our findings indicate that RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16 are all able to directly bind to 14-3-3 in the absence of any modifications otherwise seen in mammalian cells, such as phosphorylation. Consistent with this interpretation, phosphorylation of serine residues in RGS3 and RGS16 did not result in an increase in 14-3-3 binding (Ward and Milligan, 2005). In fact, the majority of data suggesting that RGS phosphorylation is essential for 14-3-3 binding are derived from cell-based systems; under such conditions, there is a possibility that additional proteins might be involved whose phosphorylation indirectly influences the RGS-14-3-3 interaction. Consistent with this principle, attempting to describe the precise role of TNF- α on the direct binding of 14-3-3 to RGS proteins *in vivo* becomes virtually impossible, mostly due to the pleiotropic effects of TNF- α ; for example, TNF- α has been observed to inhibit RGS7 degradation in mouse brains (Benzing et al., 2000), suggesting a possible mechanism for increased 14-3-3 binding that is independent of RGS phosphorylation. Notwithstanding the controversy regarding the
role of RGS phosphorylation or the lack thereof, it is abundantly clear that 14-3-3 proteins are associated with and important regulators of RGS function both *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

A putative 14-3-3 binding domain, the SYP motif, has been identified within the RGS domain of RGS3 and RGS7 (Benzing et al., 2000). In fact, this motif appears to be conserved in half of all mammalian RGS protein (Figure 2.8) and based on the crystal structure of RGS4, the serine residue that is highly conserved is one of the three contact sites formed between the RGS domain and Gai (Tesmer et al., 1997). Previously, it has been shown that 14-3-3 proteins inhibited the GAP activity of phosphorylated RGS7 in a single turnover GTP hydrolysis assay, and the authors speculated that phosphorylation of serine 434 within the SYP motif provided for a critical 14-3-3 binding residue on RGS7 (Benzing et al., 2000; Benzing et al., 2002). In contrast to these results, another group demonstrated that once the serine residue within the SYP motif is mutated into an aspartate, thought to act as a phosphoserine mimic, 14-3-3 binding to both RGS3 and RGS16 remains unchanged compared to wild-type, but notably this substitution proves to be detrimental to RGS GAP activity (Ward and Milligan, 2005). These data suggest that phosphorylation of this conserved serine does not increase the binding affinity of 14-3-3 for RGS proteins, but rather might be a potential modulator of RGS function itself. Furthermore, preliminary work in our laboratory suggests that a serine to arginine mutation within the SYP motif of RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16, adversely affects protein stability and possibly GAP activity, reinforcing the idea that this serine residue plays an important role in the overall function of RGS proteins (data not shown). Thus, it seems

that the 14-3-3 sensitive phosphorylation of serine 434 may be unique to RGS7. It is probable that the phosphorylation of other sites on different RGS proteins might alter its association with 14-3-3 proteins, however we cannot neglect the possibility that phosphorylation of the RGS protein itself, and not 14-3-3 binding, might be sufficient to account for the inhibition of GAP activity.

It still remains unclear whether the conserved SYP motif is the primary 14-3-3 binding site on most RGS proteins. Another 14-3-3-binding site on RGS3 was identified outside the RGS domain in the N-terminal region, involving serine 264 and showed that a serine to alanine mutation at this position resulted in a loss of 14-3-3 binding and an increase in G protein binding affinity (Niu et al., 2002). Similarly, Ward and Milligan (2005) observed that the predominant 14-3-3 binding site on RGS3 was serine 264 within the Nterminal domain, and not the SYP motif in the RGS domain. In our study, we showed that the GAP activity of RGS16, but not RGS5, was inhibited by 14-3-3 and we considered the possibility that this was due to the presence of the SYP 14-3-3 binding motif in RGS16 but not in RGS5, where the tyrosine residue is substituted for a leucine. Hence, we constructed reciprocal mutants RGS5 L167Y and RGS16 Y167L, and investigated whether the exchange of leucine and tyrosine residues at position 167 might account for the inhibition of RGS16 GAP activity by 14-3-3 in the in vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assay. Notably, these two residues appeared to be irrelevant to GAP activity and did not account for the functional difference between RGS5 and RGS16 with respect to 14-3-3. Thus, the SYP motif may not be the primary 14-3-3 binding motif and in this case, it is possible that not all RGS proteins share a common 14-3-3 binding domain. It follows that there may be additional low affinity 14-3-3 binding sites on RGS proteins

that contribute to the binding of RGS to 14-3-3 and that influence RGS function (Tzivion *et al.*, 2001; Sehnke *et al.*, 2002). Consistent with this principle, 14-3-3 proteins have been observed to bind to several sites on the same target protein, as is the case with c-Raf-1 (Yaffe *et al.*, 1997).

In conclusion, RGS proteins of the B/R4 subfamily are capable of binding to both purified and intracellular 14-3-3, in which the protein interaction does not appear to be dependent upon any post-translational modifications. The 14-3-3 – RGS complex is relevant in the context of signal transduction, based on the observation that 14-3-3 inhibits the GAP activity of both RGS4 and RGS16, and competes with Gαo for RGS4. Taken together, we speculate that 14-3-3 proteins negatively modulate RGS function by acting as molecular chelators that sequester RGS proteins away from both the G protein and the plasma membrane.

2.5. References

Abramow-Newerly M, Roy A A, Nunn C and Chidiac P (2005) RGS Proteins Have a Signalling Complex: Interactions Between RGS Proteins and GPCRs, Effectors, and Auxiliary Proteins. *Cell Signal* In Press.

Aitken A (2002) Functional Specificity in 14-3-3 Isoform Interactions Through Dimer Formation and Phosphorylation. Chromosome Location of Mammalian Isoforms and Variants. *Plant Mol Biol* **50**:993-1010.

Bae S, Xiao Y, Li G, Casiano C A and Zhang L (2003) Effect of Maternal Chronic Hypoxic Exposure During Gestation on Apoptosis in Fetal Rat Heart. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **285**:H983-H990.

Benzing T, Kottgen M, Johnson M, Schermer B, Zentgraf H, Walz G and Kim E (2002) Interaction of 14-3-3 Protein With Regulator of G Protein Signaling 7 Is Dynamically Regulated by Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha. *J Biol Chem* **277**:32954-32962.

Benzing T, Yaffe M B, Arnould T, Sellin L, Schermer B, Schilling B, Schreiber R, Kunzelmann K, Leparc G G, Kim E and Walz G (2000) 14-3-3 Interacts With Regulator of G Protein Signaling Proteins and Modulates Their Activity. *J Biol Chem* 275:28167-28172.

Berman DM and Gilman A G (1998) Mammalian RGS Proteins: Barbarians at the Gate. J Biol Chem 273:1269-1272.

Berman DM, Kozasa T and Gilman A G (1996) The GTPase-Activating Protein RGS4 Stabilizes the Transition State for Nucleotide Hydrolysis. *J Biol Chem* **271**:27209-27212.

Bertin B, Freissmuth M, Jockers R, Strosberg A D and Marullo S (1994) Cellular Signaling by an Agonist-Activated Receptor/Gs Alpha Fusion Protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:8827-8831.

Bockaert J, Marin P, Dumuis A and Fagni L (2003) The 'Magic Tail' of G Protein-Coupled Receptors: an Anchorage for Functional Protein Networks. *FEBS Lett* **546**:65-72.

Bonnefoy-Berard N, Liu Y C, von Willebrand M, Sung A, Elly C, Mustelin T, Yoshida H, Ishizaka K and Altman A (1995) Inhibition of Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Activity by Association With 14-3-3 Proteins in T Cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**:10142-10146.

Burchett SA (2003) In Through the Out Door: Nuclear Localization of the Regulators of G Protein Signaling. *J Neurochem* **87**:551-559.

Burgon PG, Lee W L, Nixon A B, Peralta E G and Casey P J (2001) Phosphorylation and Nuclear Translocation of a Regulator of G Protein Signaling (RGS10). *J Biol Chem* **276**:32828-32834.

Camoni L, Harper J F and Palmgren M G (1998) 14-3-3 Proteins Activate a Plant Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase (CDPK). *FEBS Lett* **430**:381-384.

Chatterjee TK, Liu Z and Fisher R A (2003) Human RGS6 Gene Structure, Complex Alternative Splicing, and Role of N Terminus and G Protein Gamma-Subunit-Like (GGL) Domain in Subcellular Localization of RGS6 Splice Variants. *J Biol Chem* **278**:30261-30271.

Chen C and Lin S C (1998) The Core Domain of RGS16 Retains G-Protein Binding and GAP Activity in Vitro, but Is Not Functional in Vivo. *FEBS Lett* **422**:359-362.

Chidiac P (1998) Rethinking Receptor-G Protein-Effector Interactions. *Biochem Pharmacol* 55:549-556.

Cladman W and Chidiac P (2002) Characterization and Comparison of RGS2 and RGS4 As GTPase-Activating Proteins for M2 Muscarinic Receptor-Stimulated G(i). *Mol Pharmacol* 62:654-659.

Conklin DS, Galaktionov K and Beach D (1995) 14-3-3 Proteins Associate With Cdc25 Phosphatases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**:7892-7896.

Couve A, Kittler J T, Uren J M, Calver A R, Pangalos M N, Walsh F S and Moss S J (2001) Association of GABA(B) Receptors and Members of the 14-3-3 Family of Signaling Proteins. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 17:317-328.

Craparo A, Freund R and Gustafson T A (1997) 14-3-3 (Epsilon) Interacts With the Insulin-Like Growth Factor I Receptor and Insulin Receptor Substrate I in a Phosphoserine-Dependent Manner. *J Biol Chem* **272**:11663-11669.

Datta SR, Katsov A, Hu L, Petros A, Fesik S W, Yaffe M B and Greenberg M E (2000) 14-3-3 Proteins and Survival Kinases Cooperate to Inactivate BAD by BH3 Domain Phosphorylation. *Mol Cell* **6**:41-51.

De Vries L and Gist-Farquhar M. (1999) RGS Proteins: More Than Just GAPs for Heterotrimeric G Proteins. *Trends Cell Biol* **9**:138-144.

De Vries L, Zheng B, Fischer T, Elenko E and Farquhar M G (2000) The Regulator of G Protein Signaling Family. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**:235-271.

Dougherty MK and Morrison D K (2004) Unlocking the Code of 14-3-3. *J Cell Sci* **117**:1875-1884.

Druey KM (2001) Bridging With GAPs: Receptor Communication Through RGS Proteins. *Sci STKE* 2001:RE14.

Ferl RJ, Manak M S and Reyes M F (2002) The 14-3-3s. Genome Biol 3: REVIEWS3010.

Fischer T, Elenko E, Wan L, Thomas G and Farquhar M G (2000) Membrane-Associated GAIP Is a Phosphoprotein and Can Be Phosphorylated by Clathrin-Coated Vesicles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**:4040-4045.

Fu H, Subramanian R R and Masters S C (2000) 14-3-3 Proteins: Structure, Function, and Regulation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**:617-647.

Furlanetto RW, Dey B R, Lopaczynski W and Nissley S P (1997) 14-3-3 Proteins Interact With the Insulin-Like Growth Factor Receptor but Not the Insulin Receptor. *Biochem J* **327 (Pt 3)**:765-771.

Garzon J, Rodriguez-Munoz M, Lopez-Fando A and Sanchez-Blazquez P (2005) Activation of Mu-Opioid Receptors Transfers Control of Galpha Subunits to the Regulator of G-Protein Signaling RGS9-2: Role in Receptor Desensitization. *J Biol Chem* **280**:8951-8960.

Irie K, Gotoh Y, Yashar B M, Errede B, Nishida E and Matsumoto K (1994) Stimulatory Effects of Yeast and Mammalian 14-3-3 Proteins on the Raf Protein Kinase. *Science* **265**:1716-1719.

Jones DH, Martin H, Madrazo J, Robinson K A, Nielsen P, Roseboom P H, Patel Y, Howell S A and Aitken A (1995) Expression and Structural Analysis of 14-3-3 Proteins. *J Mol Biol* **245**:375-384.

Kim E, Arnould T, Sellin L, Benzing T, Comella N, Kocher O, Tsiokas L, Sukhatme V P and Walz G (1999) Interaction Between RGS7 and Polycystin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**:6371-6376.

Kristiansen K (2004) Molecular Mechanisms of Ligand Binding, Signaling, and Regulation Within the Superfamily of G-Protein-Coupled Receptors: Molecular Modeling and Mutagenesis Approaches to Receptor Structure and Function. *Pharmacol Ther* **103**:21-80.

Light Y, Paterson H and Marais R (2002) 14-3-3 Antagonizes Ras-Mediated Raf-1 Recruitment to the Plasma Membrane to Maintain Signaling Fidelity. *Mol Cell Biol* **22**:4984-4996.

Liu YC, Elly C, Yoshida H, Bonnefoy-Berard N and Altman A (1996) Activation-Modulated Association of 14-3-3 Proteins With Cbl in T Cells. *J Biol Chem* **271**:14591-14595.

Muslin AJ, Tanner J W, Allen P M and Shaw A S (1996) Interaction of 14-3-3 With Signaling Proteins Is Mediated by the Recognition of Phosphoserine. *Cell* **84**:889-897.

Niu J, Scheschonka A, Druey K M, Davis A, Reed E, Kolenko V, Bodnar R, Voyno-Yasenetskaya T, Du X, Kehrl J and Dulin N O (2002) RGS3 Interacts With 14-3-3 Via the N-Terminal Region Distinct From the RGS (Regulator of G-Protein Signalling) Domain. *Biochem J* **365**:677-684. Pedram A, Razandi M, Kehrl J and Levin E R (2000) Natriuretic Peptides Inhibit G Protein Activation. Mediation Through Cross-Talk Between Cyclic GMP-Dependent Protein Kinase and Regulators of G Protein-Signaling Proteins. *J Biol Chem* 275:7365-7372.

Pozuelo RM, Geraghty K M, Wong B H, Wood N T, Campbell D G, Morrice N and Mackintosh C (2004) 14-3-3-Affinity Purification of Over 200 Human Phosphoproteins Reveals New Links to Regulation of Cellular Metabolism, Proliferation and Trafficking. *Biochem J* **379**:395-408.

Prezeau L, Richman J G, Edwards S W and Limbird L E (1999) The Zeta Isoform of 14-3-3 Proteins Interacts With the Third Intracellular Loop of Different Alpha2-Adrenergic Receptor Subtypes. *J Biol Chem* **274**:13462-13469.

Reuther GW, Fu H, Cripe L D, Collier R J and Pendergast A M (1994) Association of the Protein Kinases C-Bcr and Bcr-Abl With Proteins of the 14-3-3 Family.[See Comment]. *Science* **266**:129-133.

Rosenquist M, Sehnke P, Ferl R J, Sommarin M and Larsson C (2000) Evolution of the 14-3-3 Protein Family: Does the Large Number of Isoforms in Multicellular Organisms Reflect Functional Specificity? *J Mol Evol* **51**:446-458.

Roy AA, Lemberg K E and Chidiac P (2003) Recruitment of RGS2 and RGS4 to the Plasma Membrane by G Proteins and Receptors Reflects Functional Interactions. *Mol Pharmacol* 64:587-593.

Schiff ML, Siderovski D P, Jordan J D, Brothers G, Snow B, De Vries L, Ortiz D F and Diverse-Pierluissi M (2000) Tyrosine-Kinase-Dependent Recruitment of RGS12 to the N-Type Calcium Channel. *Nature* **408**:723-727.

Schreiber R, Kindle P, Benzing T, Walz G and Kunzelmann K (2001) Control of the Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator by AlphaG(i) and RGS Proteins. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **281**:917-923.

Sehnke PC, DeLille J M and Ferl R J (2002) Consummating Signal Transduction: the Role of 14-3-3 Proteins in the Completion of Signal-Induced Transitions in Protein Activity. [Review] [104 Refs]. *Plant Cell* **14 Suppl**:S339-S354.

Seifert R, Lee T W, Lam V T and Kobilka B K (1998) Reconstitution of Beta2-Adrenoceptor-GTP-Binding-Protein Interaction in Sf9 Cells--High Coupling Efficiency in a Beta2-Adrenoceptor-G(Alpha)s Fusion Protein. *Eur J Biochem* **255**:369-382.

Snow BE, Brothers G M and Siderovski D P (2002) Molecular Cloning of Regulators of G-Protein Signaling Family Members and Characterization of Binding Specificity of RGS12 PDZ Domain. *Methods Enzymol* **344**:740-761.

Song L, De Sarno P and Jope R S (1999) Muscarinic Receptor Stimulation Increases Regulators of G-Protein Signaling 2 MRNA Levels Through a Protein Kinase C-Dependent Mechanism. *J Biol Chem* **274**:29689-29693.

Spence SL, Dey B R, Terry C, Albert P, Nissley P and Furlanetto R W (2003) Interaction of 14-3-3 Proteins With the Insulin-Like Growth Factor I Receptor (IGFIR): Evidence for a Role of 14-3-3 Proteins in IGFIR Signaling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **312**:1060-1066.

Tazawa H, Takahashi S and Zilliacus J (2003) Interaction of the Parathyroid Hormone Receptor With the 14-3-3 Protein. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1620**:32-38.

Tesmer JJ, Berman D M, Gilman A G and Sprang S R (1997) Structure of RGS4 Bound to AlF4-Activated G(i Alpha1): Stabilization of the Transition State for GTP Hydrolysis. *Cell* **89**:251-261.

Tzivion G and Avruch J (2002) 14-3-3 Proteins: Active Cofactors in Cellular Regulation by Serine/Threonine Phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 277:3061-3064.

Tzivion G, Shen Y H and Zhu J (2001) 14-3-3 Proteins; Bringing New Definitions to Scaffolding. *Oncogene* **20**:6331-6338.

van Hemert MJ, Niemantsverdriet M, Schmidt T, Backendorf C and Spaink H P (2004) Isoform-Specific Differences in Rapid Nucleocytoplasmic Shuttling Cause Distinct Subcellular Distributions of 14-3-3 Sigma and 14-3-3 Zeta. *J Cell Sci* **117**:1411-1420.

Ward RJ and Milligan G (2005) A Key Serine for the GTPase-Activating Protein Function of Regulators of G Protein Signalling Proteins Is Not a General Target for 14-3-3 Interactions. *Mol Pharmacol* In Press.

Watson N, Linder M E, Druey K M, Kehrl J H and Blumer K J (1996) RGS Family Members: GTPase-Activating Proteins for Heterotrimeric G- Protein Alpha-Subunits. *Nature* **383**:172-175.

Wilker E and Yaffe M B (2004) 14-3-3 Proteins--a Focus on Cancer and Human Disease. *Journal of Molecular & Cellular Cardiology* **37**:633-642.

Wilkie TM and Ross E M (2000) GTPASE-Activating Proteins for Heterotrimeric G Proteins: Regulators of G Protein Signaling (RGS) and RGS-Like Proteins. *Annu Rev Biochem* 69:795-827.

Yaffe MB, Rittinger K, Volinia S, Caron P R, Aitken A, Leffers H, Gamblin S J, Smerdon S J and Cantley L C (1997) The Structural Basis for 14-3-3:Phosphopeptide Binding Specificity. *Cell* **91**:961-971.

CHAPTER 3

3.1. Final Conclusions and Future Perspectives

GPCRs are historically known to be key targets for drug discovery and development, and it is now becoming evident that these receptors are closely associated with accessory proteins that significantly contribute to their function *in vivo* (Milligan and White, 2001; Kreienkamp, 2002). Thus, investigating proteins that interact directly or indirectly with GPCRs may not only expand our understanding of their physiological roles, but also offer the possibility to improve treatment of diseases and be important in the development of new classes of drugs that more efficiently target the site of action (Presland, 2004). RGS proteins represent a major class of such accessory proteins and the present study explores a mechanism by which several RGS proteins are themselves modulated by the multifunctional protein 14-3-3.

Here, we have identified novel protein-protein interactions between RGS proteins of the B/R4 subfamily (RGS4, RGS5, RGS16) and two 14-3-3 isoforms (14-3-3 β and 14-3-3 ϵ), supporting the following hypothesis: 14-3-3 proteins directly bind to RGS proteins and act as negative modulators of RGS GAP activity by sequestering them away from their G protein targets.

The following is a summary of our main objectives and findings:

- to characterize the direct interaction of RGS proteins with two 14-3-3 isoforms in different experimental systems
 - 14-3-3 in cytosolic extracts interacts with purified RGS4, RG5 and RGS16
 - RGS5 in cytosolic fractions interacts with purified 14-3-3

101

- Purified RGS proteins directly bind to purified 14-3-3 in a concentrationdependent manner
- (2) to establish the functional significance of the protein interactions observed using in vitro steady state GTP hydrolysis assays and competitive pull-down experiments
 - 14-3-3 has no effect on Gαo protein-coupled M₂ cholinergic receptor signalling pathway in the absence of RGS proteins
 - 14-3-3 inhibits the GAP activity of RGS4 and RGS16, but not RGS5 in the *in vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assay
 - 14-3-3ε competes with activated Gαo proteins for RGS4, but not RGS5 in the competitive pull-down experiment
- (3) to investigate the role of the tyrosine residue in the SYP putative 14-3-3-binding motif within the RGS domain
 - RGS5 L167Y and RGS16 Y167L mutants demonstrate similar GAP activities as wild-type RGS proteins
 - The leucine/tyrosine amino acid substitution is not accountable for the functional difference observed between RGS5 and RGS16 in the presence of 14-3-3 under these experimental conditions

Based on our data, we suggest a mechanism wherein 14-3-3 proteins negatively modulate RGS function and act as molecular chelators that sequester RGS proteins away from both

the G protein and the plasma membrane. Thus, we conclude that 14-3-3 proteins indirectly promote GPCR signalling via their inhibitory effects on RGS proteins.

The observations presented in this thesis and in other studies show that 14-3-3 proteins are important modulators of RGS function *in vitro*, and thus the next step is to confirm the mechanism underlying the RGS-14-3-3 interaction *in vivo*. Based on their intracellular localization and their co-expression in multiple tissues including the brain and the heart (Larminie *et al.*, 2004; Dougherty and Morrison, 2004), it is plausible that RGS proteins are indeed modulated by 14-3-3 and that disruption in their binding may be a contributing factor in the development of certain diseases. For example, several RGS proteins such as RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16 have been shown to play a role in GPCR signaling in the cardiovascular system (Riddle *et al.*, 2005), where alterations in their protein expression may participate in hypertrophy, heart failure and sepsis (Wieland and Mittmann, 2003). Similarily, 14-3-3 γ protein expression has been observed to be induced in arterial trauma by cytokines (Autieri, 2004), suggesting that 14-3-3 isoforms may be important in the progression of vascular proliferative diseases (Autieri, 2004).

RGS proteins are not always localized near their target G proteins and the mechanism underlying the translocation of RGS proteins to and from the plasma membrane is important in understanding their regulation and their impact on signalling (Burchett, 2003). One process in which the translocation of some RGS proteins takes place is by their phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. For instance, phosphorylation of RGS3 and RGS4 does not affect their GAP activities but results in their relocation to the plasma

membrane from the cytoplasm (Pedram et al., 2000). As discussed in other chapters of this thesis, it has been established that 14-3-3 proteins are mostly cytosolic and can affect the intracellular localization of a number of their protein binding partners (Lopez-Girona et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 1999; Yaffe, 2002; Kino et al., 2003). In fact, one common 14-3-3 function is to promote cytosolic retention of nuclear proteins (Gorlich and Mattaj, 1996; Sehnke et al., 2002; Kino et al., 2003). The present results and other findings in the literature suggest that the mechanism by which 14-3-3 inhibits the GAP activity of RGS proteins in vivo is by sequestering them in the cytoplasm and thus away from their G protein targets. We have addressed this issue by performing competitive pull-down experiments where we observed that $14-3-3\varepsilon$ competes with Ga for RGS4 but not RGS5, however more data still need to be collected to confirm this mechanism under more physiological conditions. Previously, it has been demonstrated that RGS proteins colocalize with the Ga subunit and the receptor at the plasma membrane (Chidiac and Roy, 2003) and based on this observation, further studies in the lab will use confocal microscopy to visualize any changes that 14-3-3 may have on the plasma membrane localization of fluorescent-tagged RGS proteins when co-expressed with G proteins or GPCRs in mammalian cells. From functional data already established, we hypothesize that RGS4 and RGS16, but not RGS5 will be translocated from the plasma membrane and sequestered in the cytoplasm in the presence of 14-3-3 proteins.

Despite the clear interaction observed between 14-3-3 and RGS proteins *in vitro* and *in vivo*, it remains unclear whether the SYP motif is the primary 14-3-3 binding site on most RGS proteins, since several RGS proteins (i.e. RGS4 and RGS9-2) bind to 14-3-3 in the

absence of this site, while others (i.e. RGS3) appear to have multiple putative 14-3-3 binding motifs (Niu *et al.*, 2002; Ward and Milligan, 2005). It therefore seems plausible that not all RGS proteins share an identical 14-3-3 binding motif, but rather they may have numerous low affinity binding sites. Evidence in the present study suggests that RGS5 and RGS4 (which do not possess the SYP motif) may employ additional sites for their interaction with 14-3-3 and as of yet, their identity is unknown. Alternatively, the RGS5 SLP motif and the RGS4 SYR motif may be previously unrecognized 14-3-3 binding sites.

As described in Chapter 1, RGS phosphorylation as a determinant for 14-3-3 binding still remains controversial and in the present study, we have clearly demonstrated that 14-3-3 proteins bind to non-phosphorylated RGS4, RGS5 and RGS16. However, we cannot neglect the possibility that phosphorylation of these particular RGS proteins might affect the protein-protein interaction in question. The most obvious outcome is that this post-translational modification may increase the binding affinity of RGS proteins for 14-3-3 as has been described for many 14-3-3 protein targets (McGonigle *et al.*, 2001; Foschi *et al.*, 2001; McGonigle *et al.*, 2002). Thus RGS protein phosphorylation may represent a mechanism of modulating 14-3-3 binding to different RGS proteins and in our case, 14-3-3 might exhibit an inhibitory effect on phosphorylated RGS5 that was not observed with the non-phosphorylated form. Moreover as illustrated in Figure 3.1., RGS4, RGS5 and

rRGS4 hRGS16 hRGS5	MCKGLAXLPASCLRSAKDMKHRLGFLLQKSDSCEHSSSHSKKDKVVTCQRVSQEEVK MCRTLAAFPXTCLERAKEFKTRLGIFLHKSELGCDTGSTGKFEWGSKHSKENRNFSEDVL MCKGLAALPHSCLERAKEIKIKLGILLQKPDSVGDL-VIPYNEKPEKPAKTQKTSLDEAL
	· ·
rRGS4	KWAESLENLINHECGLAAFKAFLKSEYSEENIDFWISCEEYKKIKSPSKLSPKAKKIYNE
hRGS16 hRGS5	GWRESFDLLLSSKNGVAAFHAFLKTEFSEENLEFWLACEEFKKIRSATKLASRAHQIFEE QWRDSLDKLLQNNYGLASFKSFLKSEFSEENLEFWIACEDYKKIKSPAKMAEKAKQIYEE
rBGS4	FISVOATKEVNI.DSCTREETSENMI.EPTITCEDEAOKKIENI.MEKDSYRPEI.KSPEVI.DI
hRGS16	FICSEAPKEVNIDHETRELTRMNLOTATATCFDAAOGKTRTLMEKDSYPRFLKSSAYRDL
hRGS5	FIQTEAPKEVNIDHFTKDITMKNLVEPSLSSFDMAQKRIHALMEKDSLPRFVRSEFYQEL
	** * **** * *:: * * : ::** ** : ****** **::* * :*
rRGS4	TNPSSCGAEKOKGAKSSADCTSLVPOCA
hRGS16	AAQASAASATLSSCSLDEPSHT
hRGS5	IK

Figure 3.1. Other putative RGS-14-3-3 binding sites. Sequence alignment of rat RGS4, human RGS5 and human RGS16 used in pull-down experiments described in Chapter 2. 14-3-3 proteins have been shown to have a high affinity for phosphorylated serine (S) and threonine (T) residues on some target binding proteins (Yaffe, 2002). The SYP putative 14-3-3 binding motif (in box) is located at the end of the RGS domain (designated by (*****). * indicates highly conserved residues within the RGS subfamily and : highlights amino acids that are present in RGS4 and RGS16, but not RGS5.

106

RGS16 possess a number of serine and threonine residues that could potentially be phosphorylated and represent one or more novel putative 14-3-3 binding motif(s). However, it is also possible that RGS phosphorylation may have little or no effect on the 14-3-3 protein interaction, demonstrating that the former is not always a determining factor in 14-3-3 binding (Fu *et al.*, 2000; Ward and Milligan, 2005). Moreover, it might even reduce RGS activity independently of 14-3-3 binding. This has been observed with RGS16 where phosphorylation of distinct sites on the RGS protein including the SYP motif was associated with decreased GAP activity (Chen *et al.*, 2001; Ward and Milligan, 2005). In summary, it is difficult to predict if RGS phosphorylation will affect 14-3-3 binding and function, and more data need to be collected to address this issue.

Accessory proteins might be important in terms of coordinating the transfer of signals from receptor to G protein or from G protein to effector, as well as in helping to form functional multimeric signal transduction complexes (Sato *et al.*, 2005). In fact, some larger RGS proteins themselves have been shown to function as scaffolds, and it has been postulated that they are able to integrate both G protein-dependent and G proteinindependent signalling cascades (Hollinger and Hepler, 2002). As described in Chapter 1, 14-3-3 proteins interact with a wide variety of targets inside the cell and have been shown to directly bind to several GPCRs including the cytosolic tail of GABA_B R1 (Couve *et al.*, 2001) and the third intracellular loop of the α2-adrenergic receptor (Prezeau *et al.*, 1999). Thus, one possible function of 14-3-3 in signal transduction might be to act as an adaptor protein, cross-linking the RGS protein to GPCRs or to other receptors, and assisting in the recruitment of additional components for downstream signalling. This may constitute a mechanism by which RGS proteins are selectively targeted to signalling pathways, as is known to occur with other accessory proteins including R9AP, R7BP, GIPC and spinophilin (De Vries *et al.*, 1998; Keresztes *et al.*, 2004; Martemyanov *et al.*, 2005; Wang *et al.*, 2005). As of yet there is no direct evidence to support this concept (and the present data do not address this possibility), however our results do imply that RGS proteins may be differentially affected by 14-3-3 proteins, particularly in the case of RGS5 where we observed a definite protein interaction with 14-3-3 but failed to detect any inhibition of its GAP activity. Taken together, 14-3-3 proteins may be complex RGS modulators and exhibit multiple functions other than inhibition of RGS protein GAP activity.

3.2. References

Autieri MV (2004) Inducible Expression of the Signal Transduction Protein 14-3-3 Gamma in Injured Arteries and Stimulated Human Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. *Exp Mol Pathol* **76**:99-107.

Burchett SA (2003) In Through the Out Door: Nuclear Localization of the Regulators of G Protein Signaling. *J Neurochem* **87**:551-559.

Chen C, Wang H, Fong C W and Lin S C (2001) Multiple Phosphorylation Sites in RGS16 Differentially Modulate Its GAP Activity. *FEBS Lett* **504**:16-22.

Chidiac P and Roy A A (2003) Activity, Regulation, and Intracellular Localization of RGS Proteins. *Recept Channels* **9**:135-147.

Couve A, Kittler J T, Uren J M, Calver A R, Pangalos M N, Walsh F S and Moss S J (2001) Association of GABA(B) Receptors and Members of the 14-3-3 Family of Signaling Proteins. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 17:317-328.

De Vries L, Lou X, Zhao G, Zheng B and Farquhar M G (1998) GIPC, a PDZ Domain Containing Protein, Interacts Specifically With the C Terminus of RGS-GAIP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**:12340-12345.

Dougherty MK and Morrison D K (2004) Unlocking the Code of 14-3-3. *J Cell Sci* **117**:1875-1884.

Foschi M, Franchi F, Han J, La Villa G and Sorokin A (2001) Endothelin-1 Induces Serine Phosphorylation of the Adaptor Protein P66Shc and Its Association With 14-3-3 Protein in Glomerular Mesangial Cells. *J Biol Chem* **276**:26640-26647.

Fu H, Subramanian R R and Masters S C (2000) 14-3-3 Proteins: Structure, Function, and Regulation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**:617-647.

Gorlich D and Mattaj I W (1996) Nucleocytoplasmic Transport. Science 271:1513-1518.

Hollinger S and Hepler J R (2002) Cellular Regulation of RGS Proteins: Modulators and Integrators of G Protein Signaling. *Pharmacol Rev* **54**:527-559.

Keresztes G, Martemyanov K A, Krispel C M, Mutai H, Yoo P J, Maison S F, Burns M E, Arshavsky V Y and Heller S (2004) Absence of the RGS9.Gbeta5 GTPase-Activating Complex in Photoreceptors of the R9AP Knockout Mouse. *J Biol Chem* **279**:1581-1584.

Kino T, Souvatzoglou E, De Martino M U, Tsopanomihalu M, Wan Y and Chrousos G P (2003) Protein 14-3-3 Sigma Interacts With and Favors Cytoplasmic Subcellular Localization of the Glucocorticoid Receptor, Acting As a Negative Regulator of the Glucocorticoid Signaling Pathway. *J Biol Chem* **278**:25651-25656.

Kreienkamp HJ (2002) Organisation of G-Protein-Coupled Receptor Signalling Complexes by Scaffolding Proteins. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **2**:581-586.

Larminie C, Murdock P, Walhin J P, Duckworth M, Blumer K J, Scheideler M A and Garnier M (2004) Selective Expression of Regulators of G-Protein Signaling (RGS) in the Human Central Nervous System. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **122**:24-34.

Lopez-Girona A, Furnari B, Mondesert O and Russell P (1999) Nuclear Localization of Cdc25 Is Regulated by DNA Damage and a 14-3-3 Protein. *Nature* **397**:172-175.

Martemyanov KA, Yoo P J, Skiba N P and Arshavsky V Y (2005) R7BP, a Novel Neuronal Protein Interacting With RGS Proteins of the R7 Family. *J Biol Chem* **280**:5133-5136.

McGonigle S, Beall M J, Feeney E L and Pearce E J (2001) Conserved Role for 14-3-3epsilon Downstream of Type I TGFbeta Receptors. *FEBS Letters* **490**:65-69.

McGonigle S, Beall M J and Pearce E J (2002) Eukaryotic Initiation Factor 2 Alpha Subunit Associates With TGF Beta Receptors and 14-3-3 Epsilon and Acts As a Modulator of the TGF Beta Response. *Biochemistry* **41**:579-587.

Milligan G and White J H (2001) Protein-Protein Interactions at G-Protein-Coupled Receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 22:513-518.

Niu J, Scheschonka A, Druey K M, Davis A, Reed E, Kolenko V, Bodnar R, Voyno-Yasenetskaya T, Du X, Kehrl J and Dulin N O (2002) RGS3 Interacts With 14-3-3 Via the N-Terminal Region Distinct From the RGS (Regulator of G-Protein Signalling) Domain. *Biochem J* **365**:677-684.

Pedram A, Razandi M, Kehrl J and Levin E R (2000) Natriuretic Peptides Inhibit G Protein Activation. Mediation Through Cross-Talk Between Cyclic GMP-Dependent Protein Kinase and Regulators of G Protein-Signaling Proteins. *J Biol Chem* **275**:7365-7372.

Presland J (2004) G-Protein-Coupled Receptor Accessory Proteins: Their Potential Role in Future Drug Discovery. *Biochem Soc Trans* **32**:888-891.

Prezeau L, Richman J G, Edwards S W and Limbird L E (1999) The Zeta Isoform of 14-3-3 Proteins Interacts With the Third Intracellular Loop of Different Alpha2-Adrenergic Receptor Subtypes. *J Biol Chem* **274**:13462-13469.

Riddle EL, Schwartzman R A, Bond M and Insel P A (2005) Multi-Tasking RGS Proteins in the Heart: the Next Therapeutic Target? *Circ Res* **96**:401-411.

Sato M, Blumer J B, Simon V and Lanier S M (2005) Accessory Proteins for G Proteins: Partners in Signaling. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*.

Sehnke PC, DeLille J M and Ferl R J (2002) Consummating Signal Transduction: the Role of 14-3-3 Proteins in the Completion of Signal-Induced Transitions in Protein Activity. [Review] [104 Refs]. *Plant Cell* **14 Suppl**:S339-S354.

Wang X, Zeng W, Soyombo A A, Tang W, Ross E M, Barnes A P, Milgram S L, Penninger J M, Allen P B, Greengard P and Muallem S (2005) Spinophilin Regulates Ca2+ Signalling by Binding the N-Terminal Domain of RGS2 and the Third Intracellular Loop of G-Protein-Coupled Receptors. *Nat Cell Biol* 7:405-411.

Ward RJ and Milligan G (2005) A Key Serine for the GTPase-Activating Protein Function of Regulators of G Protein Signalling Proteins Is Not a General Target for 14-3-3 Interactions. *Mol Pharmacol* In Press.

Wieland T and Mittmann C (2003) Regulators of G-Protein Signalling: Multifunctional Proteins With Impact on Signalling in the Cardiovascular System. *Pharmacol Ther* **97**:95-115.

Yaffe MB (2002) How Do 14-3-3 Proteins Work? - Gatekeeper Phosphorylation and the Molecular Anvil Hypothesis. *FEBS Lett* **513**:53-57.

Zhang S, Xing H and Muslin A J (1999) Nuclear Localization of Protein Kinase U-Alpha Is Regulated by 14-3-3. *J Biol Chem* **274**:24865-24872.

APPENDIX A

ADDITIONAL DATA

A. Introduction

Many genes for RGS proteins (i.e. RGS5, RGS6, RGS9, RGS12 and RGS20) have been shown to encode other genetic variants and one example of the latter is the presence of splice variants that may or may not show specificity in terms of their tissue and cellular localization, as well as function (Zhang *et al.*, 1999; Chatterjee and Fisher, 2000; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2003; Liang *et al.*, 2005). At a late stage in this study, we found that the human RGS16 construct used exhibited a point mutation (TCT to CCT) in the RGS domain, resulting in an amino acid change at position 174 from a proline to a serine residue. The described RGS16 has not been recorded on the NCBI sequence database and we suspect that this variation maybe a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and not the result of a cloning error. Since these two amino acids have very different chemical properties and the residue switch occurs in the RGS domain, a region responsible for the RGS protein GAP activity, we decided to compare this RGS16 variant with the previously known RGS16, especially with respect to 14-3-3 binding.

113

B. Methods

Constructs

Serine to proline (TCT to CCT) substitution in pET20b-RGS16 (labeled RGS16 S174P) was carried out using the Stratagene QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis method as described previously. The following oligonucleotide, and its reverse complement were used as a primer in the PCR reaction: Sense-CGCTTCCTGAAGTCGCCTGCTTACC GGGACC. The presence of the appropriate mutations was confirmed by sequencing (DNA Sequencing Facility, Robarts Research Institute, University of Western Ontario, Canada).

Detailed protocols describing the protein purification, the pull-down experiments and the data analysis have been described in *Materials and Methods* in Chapter 1.

C. Results and Discussion

To investigate the characteristics of the novel human RGS16 splice variant, we designed an RGS16 (labeled RGS16 S174P) that has previously been identified, by switching the serine residue back to the proline residue at position 174. We then compared the two RGS16 proteins by looking at their RGS GAP activities, and their ability to bind to 14-3-3 proteins. Both RGS16 proteins demonstrated similar GAP activities in the *in vitro* steady state GTP hydrolysis assay (data not shown), implying that this amino acid substitution does not interfere with G α o binding or impair its GAP function. Furthermore, as assessed by cell lysate and purified protein pull-down experiments, there was no apparent difference in 14-3-3 binding to either RGS16 or RGS16 S174P proteins, and both RGS16 variants readily interacted with 14-3-3 ϵ (Figures A.1 and A.2) and 14-3-3 β (data not shown). Taken together, the data suggest that the serine substitution within the RGS domain of RGS16 used in the present study did not have a detectible effect on protein function.



Figure A.1. *14-3-3* ε in cytosolic fractions interacts with both purified RGS16 and RGS16 S174P. Western blot of a pull-down experiment using lysates of HEK293 cells expressing HIS-14-3-3 ε or a mock-transfected control. (A) Lysates taken prior to pull-down experiment (transfection control), in which the membrane was probed with anti-HIS antibody to detect 14-3-3 proteins. For the pull-down experiment, cell lysates were incubated with GST [0.8 μ M] or GST-RGS16 or GST-RGS16 S174P [0.4 μ M]. Glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads were added to the proteins overnight. The blot was probed with anti-HIS antibody (B), after which the membrane was stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (C). Data represent one of two independent experiments. All lanes shown were taken from a single membrane (each probed once with anti-HIS and once with anti-GST).



Figure A.2. Direct interaction between purified RGS16 S174P and purified 14-3-3 ε proteins. Western blot of protein binding experiment between GST [0.4 μ M] or GST-RGS16 or GST-RGS16 S174P [0.2 μ M], and HIS-14-3-3 ε [0.5 μ M]. Proteins were incubated with glutathione-Sepharose 4B beads overnight. The blot was probed with anti-HIS antibody to detect 14-3-3 proteins (A), after which the membrane was stripped and reprobed with anti-GST antibody (B). Data represent one of three independent experiments. All lanes shown were taken from a single membrane (each probed once with anti-HIS and once with anti-GST).

.

Chatterjee TK and Fisher R A (2000) Novel Alternative Splicing and Nuclear Localization of Human RGS12 Gene Products. *J Biol Chem* **275**:29660-29671.

Chatterjee TK, Liu Z and Fisher R A (2003) Human RGS6 Gene Structure, Complex Alternative Splicing, and Role of N Terminus and G Protein Gamma-Subunit-Like (GGL) Domain in Subcellular Localization of RGS6 Splice Variants. *J Biol Chem* **278**:30261-30271.

Liang Y, Li C, Guzman V M, Chang W W, Evinger A J, III, Sao D and Woodward D F (2005) Identification of a Novel Alternative Splicing Variant of RGS5 MRNA in Human Ocular Tissues. *FEBS J* **272**:791-799.

Zhang K, Howes K A, He W, Bronson J D, Pettenati M J, Chen C, Palczewski K, Wensel T G and Baehr W (1999) Structure, Alternative Splicing, and Expression of the Human RGS9 Gene. *Gene* **240**:23-34.

APPENDIX B



The University of Western Ontario

Human Resources Occupational Health and Safety 1151 Richmond Street, London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada

This is to certify that:

Maria Abramow-Newerly

has completed a course in

Radiation Safety Refresher

Radiation Safety Coordinator

Date of Issue: November 9, 2005

Expires on: November 9, 2007

Employer's signature

Employee's signature

Training includes TDG class 7 related to all aspects of handling radioactive material packages: types of radioactive shipment, package labels, identifying and opening radioactive packages, radiological emergency response.

PERMISSION TO REPRINT FIGURE 1.4.

From: Permissions <Permissions@annualreviews.org> Sent: November 23, 2005 4:22:05 PM To: "Maria Abramow-Newerly" Subject: RE: Permission to use a figure

Dear Maria:

Thank you for your request for permission to reprint the figure cited in your e-mail below. We are happy to grant you permission to use this material in your thesis. Please use the following acknowledgment: "Reprinted, with permission, from the Annual Review of Biochemistry, Volume 69 (c) 2000 by Annual Reviews www.annualreviews.org"

This permission to reprint is for a one-time usage only and any subsequent use of this material requires submission of a new permission request. Fees for this noncommercial usage have been waived for you. If I can be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Best wishes for success with your thesis.

Sincerely, Laura Folkner Permissions Department ANNUAL REVIEWS A Nonprofit Scientific Publisher 4139 El Camino Way Palo Alto, CA 94306 Ph: 650.843.6636 Fax: 650.855.9815 Ifolkner@annualreviews.org

PERMISSION TO REPRINT FIGURE 1.5.

From:Millerd, Tiffany <TMillerd@nas.edu>Sent:December 8, 2005 9:52:40 AMTo:"Maria Abramow-Newerly"Subject:RE: Permission to use a figure

Dear Ms. Abramow-Newerly,

Permission is granted for your use of the figure as described in your message below. Please cite the full journal references and "Copyright (Copyright year) National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A."

Best regards, Tiffany Millerd for Diane Sullenberger Executive Editor PNAS

PERMISSION TO REPRINT FIGURE 1.7.



Maria Abramow-Newerly

Fax: number

Dear Maria

Please find below the signed permissions form that you requested. Yours sincerely,

Cathy Walters Permissions Administrator

Journal Reference: J Cell Sci 2004 117: 1875-1884

Title: Unlocking the code of 14-3-3

Authors:

Michele K. Dougherty and Deborah K. Morrison

PERMISSION GRANTED PLEASE CREDIT JOURNAL REFERENCE AND COMPANY OF BIOLOGISTS LTD.

For The Company of Biologists Ltd

Permissions Administrator